
 

 

North Devon Council 
Brynsworthy Environment Centre 
Barnstaple 
North Devon   EX31 3NP 
 

K. Miles 

Chief Executive. 
 

 
 

 LICENSING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY COMMITTEE 
 
A meeting of the  Licensing and Community Safety Committee will be held in the Barum 
Room - Brynsworthy on TUESDAY, 8TH FEBRUARY, 2022 at 10.00 am. 
 
(NOTE: A location plan for the Brynsworthy Environment Centre is attached to the 
agenda front pages. From the 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold 
formal meetings in person. The council is also ensuring that all venues used are 
Covid secure and that all appropriate measures are put in place.  There are a 
limited number of spaces available for members of the public to attend. Please 
check the Council’s website for the latest information regarding the arrangements 
that are in place and the requirement to book a place 2 working days prior to the 
meeting  Taking part in meetings (northdevon.gov.uk)  
 
 
Members of the Licensing and Community 
Safety Committee 

Councillor Tucker (Chair) 

 
Councillors Biederman, Bulled, Campbell, Cann, Chesters, Gubb, Henderson, Hunt, 
Orange, Pearson, D. Spear, L. Spear, Yabsley and York 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence   

2.   To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 18 January 
2022  (Pages 7 - 10) 

 (attached) 
 

3.   Items brought forward which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered by 
the meeting as a matter of urgency   

4.   Declarations of Interests   

5.   To agree the agenda between Part 'A' and Part 'B' (Confidential Restricted 
Information)   

PART 'A' 

6.   Feedback from Community and Safety Sub-Committee Hearings with 
Reference to Operating Schedules and Conditions   

 Public Protection Manager to report. 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.northdevon.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-committees/taking-part-in-meetings/


 
 

 
2 

 

7.   Hackney Carriage Tariff: Briefing on Meters, Calculations and Advertisement   

 Presentation by the Public Protection Manager. 
 

8.   Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy: Review options 
pertaining to vehicle emissions and age  (Pages 11 - 50) 

 Report by the Public Protection Manager (attached). 
 

9.   Licensing and Community Safety Sub-Committees  (Pages 51 - 58) 

 To consider and adopt the minutes of the following Licensing and Community 
Safety Sub-Committee (attached): 

 Licensing and Community Safety Sub-Committee C: 11 January 2022 
 

PART 'B' (CONFIDENTIAL RESTRICTED INFORMATION) 

Nil. 
 
 
 

 

If you have any enquiries about this agenda, please contact Corporate and 
Community Services, telephone 01271 388253 

 
 
 

31.01.22 
 



 
 

 
3 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

North Devon Council protocol on recording/filming at Council meetings 
 
The Council is committed to openness and transparency in its decision-making. 
Recording is permitted at Council meetings that are open to the public. The Council 
understands that some members of the public attending its meetings may not wish to be 
recorded. The Chairman of the meeting will make sure any request not to be recorded is 
respected.  
 
The rules that the Council will apply are:  
 

1. The recording must be overt (clearly visible to anyone at the meeting) and must 
not disrupt proceedings. The Council will put signs up at any meeting where we 
know recording is taking place.  

 
2. The Chairman of the meeting has absolute discretion to stop or suspend recording 

if, in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting 
or if the person recording is in breach of these rules.  

 
3. We will ask for recording to stop if the meeting goes into ‘part B’ where the public 

is excluded for confidentiality reasons. In such a case, the person filming should 
leave the room ensuring all recording equipment is switched off. 

 
4. Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. We ensure that 

agendas for, and signage at, Council meetings make it clear that recording can 
take place – anyone not wishing to be recorded must advise the Chairman at the 
earliest opportunity.  

 
5. The recording should not be edited in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or 

misrepresentation of the proceedings or in a way that ridicules or shows a lack of 
respect for those in the recording. The Council would expect any recording in 
breach of these rules to be removed from public view.  

 
Notes for guidance: 
 
Please contact either our Corporate and Community Services team or our 
Communications team in advance of the meeting you wish to record at so we can make 
all the necessary arrangements for you on the day.  
 
For more information contact the Corporate and Community Services team on 01271 
388253 or email memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk or the Communications Team 
on 01271 388278, email communications@northdevon.gov.uk. 



 
 

 
4 

 

 
 
North Devon Council offices at Brynsworthy, the full address is:  
Brynsworthy Environment Centre (BEC), Roundswell,  
Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 3NP. 
 
Sat Nav postcode is EX31 3NS. 
 
At the Roundswell roundabout take the exit onto the B3232, after about ½ mile take the 
first right, BEC is about ½ a mile on the right. 
 
Drive into the site, visitors parking is in front of the main building on the left hand side.  
 
On arrival at the main entrance, please sign in using the Track and Trace App and follow 
the signage and instructions in order to access the Meeting Rooms. Alternatively, dial 
8253 for Corporate and Community Services if you have any problems. 
 

 



 
 

 
5 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Licensing and Community Safety Committee - 18 January 2022 
 

1 
 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of Licensing and Community Safety Committee held in the 
Barum Room - Brynsworthy on Tuesday, 18th January, 2022 at 6.30 pm 
 
PRESENT: Members: 

 
 Councillor Tucker (Chair) 

 
 Councillors Bulled, Campbell, Cann, Gubb, Hunt, Orange, D. Spear 

and L. Spear 
 

 Officers: 
 

 Legal Advisor (HP), Licensing Officer and Solicitor (CN) 
 

 
   
 

27.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Biederman, Chesters, 
Henderson and Yabsley. 

28.   TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 14 DECEMBER 2021 
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2021 (circulated 
previously) be adopted with the following amendment: 
 
Minute 25: Hackney Carriage Fare Tariff Review: 3rd bullet point to be amended to “A 
report would be brought to the Licensing and Community Safety Committee at a 
later date” not January 2022 as stated. 

29.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 
 

The following declaration of interest was announced: 
 
Councillor Campbell – a personal interest in item 6 – his wife worked as a chaperone 
for vulnerable children in taxis. 

30.   HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE POLICY - THE 
STATUTORY TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE STANDARDS 
 

The Committee considered a report on the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy 
– The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards (circulated previously) by 
the Public Protection Manager. 
 
The Chair welcomed Lee Staples to the meeting who introduced himself. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 
Licensing and Community Safety Committee - 18 January 2022 

 
 

 
2 

 

Mr Staples had previously been the principal Licensing Officer at Exeter City Council.  
He was currently contracted to North Devon Council working on the review of the 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy. 
 
The Public Protection Manager updated the Committee on the progression of 
streamlining the application process.  As a result of a request for the process to be 
made simpler brought to the Committee by a local taxi firm owner as discussed at 
the 14 December 2021 meeting.  The Public Protection Manager advised that the 
investigation into the possible streamlining of the application process was still 
ongoing and a report would be presented to Committee at a future date to be 
determined. 
 
Mr Staples then presented highlights of the changes being presented to the 
Committee as follows: 

 At its meeting of 13 October 2021 the Committee learnt of the Department for 

Transport’s Statutory standards as well as the significant changes that were 

needed to bring North Devon Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Policy in line with the Department for Transport’s Statutory requirements 

 As agreed at the meeting of 13 October 2021 a consultation was carried out 

seeking comments from local stakeholders and members of the public 

 The feedback received could be viewed as part of the agenda pack at 

Appendix C 

 Appendix D presented the changes being proposed and the following 

changes were highlighted to Committee as follows: 

a) A review to be carried out on an existing Licence Holder if further relevant 

information came to light by way of a complaint or referral of information 

from the Police.  Regarding a serious offence committed, this would 

remain a consideration for refusal of a licence regardless of the time 

elapsed since sentencing 

b) The Disclosure and Barring update Service (DBS).  Whilst it was noted 

that a financial constraint would be placed on the Driver as a result of this 

being made mandatory.  The real time updates on offences committed 

being notified to the Council would benefit the safety of the local 

community.  It was planned to impose this mandatory requirement in a 

phased approach.  This mandatory subscription to the DBS update 

service, would apply to all new applicants from 1 April 2022 and existing 

licence holders on renewal 

c) Displaying how a customer could make a complaint was to be mandatory.  

Stickers would be displayed in a taxi giving customers the information 

needed to make a complaint 

d) The Lead Licensing Officer had carried out a review of the convictions 

policy and this could be found in Appendix H of the proposed policy 

attached to the agenda at Appendix A.  The proposal being put forward 

was that the highest available minimum period of elapsed time since the 

last conviction would be imposed 

e) From 1 March 2022 it was proposed that all existing licenced drivers would 

be required to undertake Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



 
Licensing and Community Safety Committee - 18 January 2022 

 
 

 
3 

 

Safeguarding awareness training within a period of one year and that all 

new drivers from 1 March 2022 would be required to complete this training 

within a year of their licence being granted.  Publication of this new 

requirement would be made in advance and the North Devon Council 

website would be updated to give guidance and advice to the trade 

f) The installation of CCTV in vehicles would require further investigation and 

a report was expected to be brought to a future Licensing and Community 

Safety Committee 

g) The requirement for a basic DBS check to be undertaken for hackney 

carriage and private hire vehicle proprietors and private hire operators 

annually was being proposed to begin from 1 March 2022 

h) North Devon Council would draft a list of driver requirements and post this 

on the website as a checklist for prospective drivers to follow 

In response to a question on why a consultation was carried out on statutory 
standards.  Mr Staples advised the Committee that a consultation was not required 
but that it was a standard way to inform stakeholders of proposed changes and to 
provide stakeholders with an indication of how the Council would be implementing 
those changes.  Additionally, whilst the standards were statutory there were different 
methods of tailoring them to a Council’s existing policy requirements. 
 
In response to a question on whether drivers could sign up to the DBS update 
service early.  Mr Staples replied that they could but warned that there was a 19-day 
window in which the driver had to complete the lengthy process.  Ahead of Drivers, 
renewing their Licence a letter would be sent to them detailing the new requirement 
and advice would be given on completing this. 
 
In reply to a question about the next steps required for the introduction of CCTV in 
taxis.  The Public Protection Manager explained research had to be undertaken on 
this subject to understand the rules, costs of installing equipment, the positives and 
negatives of pursuing the introduction of CCTV. 
In response to a question about whether Drivers could currently have CCTV installed 
in their taxi.  Mr Staples confirmed that the current Policy did allow for this.  There 
were differences in the robustness of and quality of systems but that for about £120 
a sufficient system could be installed. 
 
The Public Protection Manager acknowledged that the Council did not currently 
collate data on which taxi drivers currently have CCTV installed but could look at 
finding this information out.  Dash cams would also form part of the in cab 
surveillance report that would be brought to a future Committee meeting. 
Mr Staples concluded that this policy had had significant changes made to it which 
had Public Safety at the fore. 
   
RESOLVED that the representations made in response to a consultation on the 
proposed amendments to the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy be noted. 
 
RECOMMENDED that the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy be 
approved by the Strategy and Resources Committee. 

31.   LICENSING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY SUB-COMMITTEES 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



 
Licensing and Community Safety Committee - 18 January 2022 

 
 

 
4 

 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Licensing and Community Safety Sub-
Committee B held on 20 December 2021 (circulated previously) be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair of that Sub-Committee. 
 
Chair 
The meeting ended at 7.15 pm 
 
NOTE: These minutes will be confirmed as a correct record at the next meeting of 
the Committee. 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 2



 

North Devon Council 

Report Date: 8th February 2022 

Topic: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy- Vehicle Specification Policy 

Development 

Report by: Katy Nicholls, Public Protection Manager 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. This report seeks to consult members of Licensing and Community Safety 

Committee (‘LCSC’) on options for possible changes to the vehicle 

specification within the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy, with a view 

to improving the environmental impact of the taxi trade in North Devon. 

 

1.2. In common with a number of other South West Licensing Authorities, the 

Licensing Team at North Devon have recently given consideration to how the 

vehicle specifications within the policy could be amended to reduce 

emissions of harmful greenhouse gases and air pollutants, with the aim of 

reducing the environmental impact of the taxi trade. Several possible options 

for policy amendment have been drafted, and the views of Members of the 

LCSC are invited prior to a request for a public consultation on any proposed 

changes are brought to a subsequent meeting.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. It is RECOMMENDED that Licensing and Community Safety Committee: 

 

2.2. Consider the options presented for the amendment of the vehicle standards 

found at Appendix A. 

 

2.3. Indicate their preferred option, or direct Officers to make amendments to the 

proposed options, with a view to the amended options being brought back to 

a subsequent meeting as part of a request to go out to public consultation.  

 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1. To ensure the Council’s policies are regularly reviewed and kept up to date. 

 

3.2. To contribute to the Council’s Corporate plan priority to “Cherish and protect 

our environment”.  

 

 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



 
4. REPORT 

4.1. North Devon Council (NDC) approved the policy and associated conditions of 

licence for the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trades in August 2016 and 

contained the following positive environmental requirements: 

 

 Vehicles must be less than 5 years old when presented for licensing. 

Vehicles older than this will be licensed only at the discretion of the 

Licensing Sub Committee.   

 It is considered that efforts should be made, through the licensing 

policy, to improve, as far as possible, the efficiency of vehicles 

licensed in the district by, in particular, reducing the levels of CO2 

emitted.  Appendix A Paragraph 17.0 makes it clear that LPG 

conversions to vehicles are perfectly acceptable. 

 

4.2. Further to the Governments announcement at the end of 2020 regarding 

plans to end sales of petrol and diesel cars by 2030, it has become apparent 

that consideration should be given to amending the vehicle specification 

above to encourage the taxi trade towards low, ultra-low and zero emission 

vehicle alternatives. The phase-out of petrol and diesel cars will be in two 

stages, with sales of conventional cars with engines banned from 2030, and 

hybrid and plug-in hybrid models with significant zero-emission capability 

allowed until 2035. 

 

4.3. In addition to the Government announcement, in September 2018, the 

Energy Savings Trust/ Low Carbon Vehicle Partnership published a Low 

Emission Taxi Guide which is attached at Appendix B, and contains an 

excellent summary of low carbon vehicle options and policy considerations 

which members are advised to review as background to this discussion.  

 

4.4. The Low Emission Taxi Guide outlines a number of relevant regulatory/ policy 

measures that can be considered by Licensing Authorities: 

 

 Revise Conditions of Fitness: Revise conditions of fitness for newly 

licenced vehicles to state that they must meet LEV (low emission 

vehicle) standards as a minimum. More ambition could be encouraged 

through requiring ‘best in class’ CO2 emissions and Ultra-low emission 

vehicles (ULEV). 

 Vehicle age limits for new vehicles: Revise the age limits for newly 

licenced vehicles- including the age at which vehicles can be first 

licenced (for example Euro 6 emission standard) and a total age limit. 

Consider higher age limits for ULEV. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 8



 
 Vehicle age limits for existing vehicles: Place in a more ambitious age 

restriction on existing vehicles. 

 

4.5. A low emission vehicle is defined by the Guide as a vehicle that complied 

with either Euro 6 emission standard for diesel and LPG vehicles, or Euro 

Emission standard 4 for petrol vehicles.  

 

4.6. A review of other Devon/ neighbouring Licensing Authorities policies on 

vehicle standards has also been undertaken for benchmarking purposes, and 

can be found attached at Appendix C. 

 

4.7. Taking into account the policy measures suggested in the Low Emission Taxi 

Guide, and the benchmarking with other Licensing Authorities, two options for 

policy amendment have been developed and attached at Appendix A. In 

addition, the options include proposed provisions to incentivise the uptake of 

both wheelchair accessible vehicles and ULEV’s. Both of these vehicle types 

commonly involve additional purchasing costs, and in the case of wheelchair 

accessible vehicles additional running costs (for example many WAVs are 

larger vehicles and as such have lower fuel economy than smaller vehicles). 

Increased provision of these vehicle types would be helpful in pursuing the 

Councils aims to “cherish and protect the environment” and also “accessibility 

to all members of the community”. 

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. Any financial costs which are reduced or incurred through the consideration 

process of updating the Taxi policy will be taken into account when 

calculating fees for taxi related licences. 

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT 

6.1. An equalities impact assessment will be included with a subsequent report 

seeking permission to go out to public consultation on any proposed taxi and 

private hire policy changes.  

 

7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 

7.1. A full Environmental Assessment checklist will be produced with a 

subsequent report seeking permission to go out to public consultation on any 

proposed taxi and private hire policy changes. The whole thrust of this report, 

and any subsequent report, will be to create environmental benefits.  

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



 
8. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

8.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph: 4b 

8.2. Referred or delegated power?: Delegated 

 

9. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

9.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have 

on: 

9.1.1. The commercialisation agenda:  neutral 

9.1.2. Improving customer focus: neutral, whilst some aspects of 

implementation of improved vehicle standards, could be cited by drivers 

to be an additional ‘hindrance’, the policy suggestions seek to promote 

public safety and the environment which is of customer and wider 

economic benefit. 

9.1.3. Regeneration or economic development: neutral, whilst some aspects of 

implementation of improved vehicle standards, could be cited by drivers 

to be an additional ‘hindrance’, the policy suggestions seek to promote 

public safety and the environment which is of customer and wider 

economic benefit. 

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

10.1. This report contains no confidential information or exempt information 

under the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

11.1. The following background papers were used in the preparation of this 

report  

(The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author 

of the report): 

 The Energy Savings Trust/ Low Carbon Vehicle Partnership Low 

Emission Taxi Guide; 

 North Devon Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

Policy. 

12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

12.1. The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all 

appropriate Councillors and Officers:  

Katy Nicholls, Public Protection Manager. 

27.01.22 

 

 

 

Page 14

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX A: North Devon Vehicle Standards Amendment Options 

 

Option 1: Amended Age restriction 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Standard First License (Except wheelchair 

accessible and Ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles): 

Vehicles must be less than 4 years old when presented for first licensing and have a Euro 

NCAP star ratings of 4 or more. 

Additionally a first licence may be issued to a vehicle that is more than four but less than five 

years old provided a comprehensive report into the mechanical fitness of the vehicle has 

been undertaken by the AA, RAC, or DEKRA, or any other approved engineer, and any 

essential works identified have been carried out and evidence provided to establish this. An 

application for the grant of a first licence where the vehicle in question is more than 5 years 

old, shall not be granted. However the applicant will be given the right to apply for the 

application to be considered by a licensing sub-committee if they feel that their particular 

circumstances justify a deviation from the existing Policies. 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Renewal: 

Vehicles presented for renewal that are less than 9 years old can be renewed by Licensing 

Officers under delegated powers.  

Vehicles presented for renewal that are between 9 and 10 years old can be renewed by 

Licensing Officers under delegated powers provided that the vehicle is presented for 

inspection in a satisfactory condition, and the vehicle has passed its vehicle renewal 

inspection. 

Vehicles presented for renewal that are more than 10 years old will be referred to the 

licensing sub-committee for determination. Such applications should be submitted at least 4 

weeks prior to the expiry date on the licence, as it may take several weeks to convene a 

licensing sub-committee. Applicants will be advised to provide a comprehensive report into 

the mechanical fitness of the vehicle as outlined above. 

Vehicle Standard: Wheelchair Accessible and Ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles:  

North Devon District Council recognises its responsibility in contributing to the protection of 

the environment, and also to ensuring that the Hackney carriage and private hire trade are 

accessible to all members of the community. It is therefore the intention of this policy to 

incentivise the licensing of both wheelchair accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles. 

This policy recognises that both of these types of vehicle can involve additional costs to the 

proprietor in either purchasing or running these types of vehicle, and as such the age 

restriction for these vehicles has been amended from that for other vehicle types as follows: 

Wheelchair accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles must be less than 6/7 years old 

at first licensing. 

Additionally, whilst there is currently no upper age limit for the renewal of wheelchair 

accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles, these vehicles will still be required to pass 

the Council’s vehicle inspection on a twelve-month basis until the vehicle is 6/7 years old, 

and thereafter every six months. 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A



Option 2: Emission Standard restriction 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Standard First License (Except wheelchair 

accessible vehicles): 

With effect from 1st April 2022 for all new vehicles plated for the first time by the Council 

(including existing proprietors on the change of vehicle), proprietors will be required to 

comply with the following condition(s): 

Vehicles must have a Euro 6 emission standard or above, and have a Euro NCAP star 

ratings of 4 or more. 

Vehicle Standard: Wheelchair Accessible vehicles:  

North Devon District Council recognises its responsibility in ensuring that the Hackney 

carriage and private hire trade are accessible to all members of the community. It is 

therefore the intention of this policy to incentivise the licensing of wheelchair accessible 

vehicles. This policy recognises that these types of vehicle can involve additional costs to 

the proprietor in either purchasing or running costs, and as such the emissions restriction 

above has been amended for wheelchair accessible vehicles to Euro 5 or higher emission 

standard. 

Additionally, whilst there is currently no upper age limit for the renewal of wheelchair 

accessible and ultra-low/ zero emission vehicles, these vehicles will still be required to pass 

the Council’s vehicle inspection on a twelve-month basis until the vehicle is 6/7 years old, 

and thereafter every six months. 

 

 

Explanation of Euro Standards (Source RAC Website): 

My car newly registered from: Emissions standard 

31 December 1992 Euro 1 

1 January 1997 Euro 2 

1 January 2001 Euro 3 

1 January 2006 Euro 4 

Page 16

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A



My car newly registered from: Emissions standard 

1 January 2011 Euro 5 

1 September 2015 - but see important note below Euro 6 

 

Important note: Individual vehicles already on sale that were built by, and dispatched 

from, the manufacturer before 1st June 2015 can continue to be sold until 1st September 

2016'. This in effect means that a car sold before 1st September 2016 may still have a 

Euro 5 engine. Check with the manufacturer to be certain. 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



The Low Emission
Taxi Guide
Helping Local Authorities implement low 
emission taxi and private hire vehicle schemes

Page 19

Agenda Item 8
Appendix B



This report is published by the Low Carbon Vehicle Partnership 
and Energy Saving Trust

Low Carbon Vehicle Partnership
3 Birdcage Walk,
London,
SW1H 9JJ
Tel: +44 (0)20 7304 6880

Energy Saving Trust
30 North Colonnade 
London E14 5GP
Tel: 020 7222 0101

Project Team: Gloria Esposito LowCVP, 
Maria Siakovelli and Ian Featherstone EST
Date of Report: 1st September 2018

Acknowledgments

The production of the Low Emission Taxi Guide has been 
sponsored by the Department for Transport and Autogas Limited. 

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



4 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   5      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

1 Introduction           6
1.1 What does this guide cover?         6 
1.2 Impacts of TPH vehicles on road transport emissions     6
1.3 Defining low and ultra-low emission TPH vehicles     7
1.3 Why adopt low emission TPH vehicles?       7
1.4 The taxi and private hire market and fleet profile      8
1.5 An overview of taxi and private hire licensing      9

2 National measures to reduce road transport emissions     10
2.1 Air quality           10
2.2 Climate change          12
2.3 Government grants and incentives for low emission vehicles    12

3 Best practice guidance for local authorities      16
3.1 What to consider before making any policy changes     16
3.2 Local policy measures and initiatives       16
3.3 Policy case studies          19
3.4 Guidance for installation of EV charging infrastructure     22

4 Technology chapters         26
4.1 Battery electric taxi and private hire vehicles      26
4.2 Extended range and plug-in hybrid taxi and private hire vehicles    34
4.3 Hydrogen fuel cell taxi and private hire vehicles      38
4.4 Petrol, diesel and hybrid electric taxi and private hire vehicles    40
4.5 Liquefied petroleum gas taxi and private hire vehicles     42

Appendix 1 – Assumptions          46
Appendix 2 - Further information         47

Contents

1

2

3

4

4 The Low Emission Taxi Guide The Low Emission Taxi Guide   5      

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



6 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   7      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

1 Introduction

The low emission taxi and private hire vehicle 
guide has two key audiences:

1. Local authorities who are required to reduce road transport 
 emissions in order to achieve compliance with legal air 
 quality standards, and mitigate climate change. The guide 
 outlines the latest available low emission vehicle technologies  
 and fuels suitable for the taxi and private hire vehicle industry. 
 In addition the guide will help taxi licensing authorities 
 implement best practice policy measures and initiatives to 
 accelerate the take up of clean and low carbon vehicles. 

2. Taxi and private hire vehicle drivers who may be required to 
 switch to low emission vehicles in order to operate in their 
 local and neighbouring towns and cities. The guide will help 
 them choose the most appropriate vehicle technology for 
 their journey needs, and comply with licensing policies, and 
 other local policy interventions, aimed at improving local air 
 quality. 

1.1   What does this guide cover?

— Background information about the profile of the taxi private 
 hire (TPH) fleet in the UK and its impact on road transport 
 emissions.

— An overview of the policy framework at national, regional and 
 local level relating to air quality, climate change and specifically 
 to TPH.

— Best practice guidance for Local Authorities (LAs) outlining 
 policies and measures to encourage the uptake of low 
 emission taxis, and establish charging infrastructure. 

— Presents a range of low emission technologies and fuels 
 suitable for TPH and matches these to current vehicles 
 available and different journey patterns.

— Provides an overview of electric vehicle charging and refuelling 
 infrastructure.

— Sets out the business, environmental and operational case for 
 low emission TPH vehicles.

— Presents low emission taxi operator and licensing authority 
 case studies from different regions of the UK.

The low emission technologies and fuels covered in the 
guide are:

— Battery electric vehicles (BEV or pure EV)
— Plug-in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEV) and extended range 
 electric vehicles (E-REV)

— Fuel cell electric vehicles (FCEV)
— Petrol, diesel and hybrid electric vehicles (HEV)
— Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) - Repowering and conversion

 
 

 
 

1.2   Impacts of TPH vehicles on road 
         transport emissions 

In March 2017 there were 290,900 licensed TPH vehicles in 
England and Wales¹ and 23,353 in Scotland². While this is a 
relatively small proportion of the 31.3 million licenced cars in Great 
Britain at the end of 2017³, TPH vehicles have a disproportionate 
impact on air quality impacting human health. This is due to the 
relatively high mileage they cover and their concentrations in 
busy urban areas such as railway stations, shopping malls and 
supermarkets where large numbers of pedestrians are present. 
Emissions produced by these vehicles not only have an impact on 
the health of the local population (almost all taxis and many private 
hire vehicles are fuelled by diesel) but also on TPH drivers who 
may be exposed to poor air quality for 8-12 hours a day.

Road transport (including local road traffic and road traffic 
background) is responsible for some 80% of nitrogen oxide (NOx) 
concentrations at roadside (Figure 1). Although diesel taxis are 
only responsible for 2% of the local road traffic NOx emissions 
nationally, this rises significantly in cities¹,⁴ .In central London, the 
latest London Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (LAEI) 2013 states 
that the NOx contribution from taxis is 18%⁵.

Figure 1: UK national average NOx roadside concentration 

     apportioned by source of NOx emissions, 2015

1.3   Defining low and ultra-low emission 
         TPH vehicles 

A low emission vehicle (LEV) in terms of this guide is one that 
complies with the minimum Euro emission standards below. 
These emission standards align those set in the UK Clean Air Zone 
Framework and London Ultra Low Emission Zone. 

Figure 2:  Minimum emission standards for Low Emission TPH vehicles

LAs may seek to go further where appropriate and encourage 
TPH vehicles that are ‘best in class’ for CO2 emissions. 
Recommendations for saloon car standards are less than 110g/km 
CO2 emissions, and wheelchair accessible vehicles less than 222g/
km CO2 emission. These could be applied in the standards used 
for their contractor transport fleet procurement or TPH licensing 
rules. 

Greater ambition can be delivered by transiting to ultra-low 
emission vehicles (ULEVs). The UK Government currently defines 
ULEVs as cars or vans achieving less than 75 g/km CO2 emissions. 
Currently all models categorised as ULEVs have an electrified 
powertrain to some degree. In this guide we propose ULEV also 
achieve a minimum of 10 miles electric range. In 2017 53,203 
ULEVs were registered in the UK which accounted for 1.7% of all 
new vehicle registrations. 

Although ULEVs and ultimately zero tailpipe emission vehicles 
are the end point of this transition, due to the range of social and 
economic circumstances found in the TPH trade around the 
country, the early introduction of ULEVs is not always practical. 
This guide therefore covers a range of low emission vehicle 
technologies and fuels to help licensing authorities improve air 
quality emissions while reducing CO2 emissions as much as is 
possible. 

1.3   Why adopt low emission 
         TPH vehicles?

Benefits for Local Authorities
Encouraging the adoption of low emission TPH vehicles can help 
improve local air quality and reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
from road transport. Diesel TPH vehicles frequently operate at 
transport hubs such as rail and bus stations and at other busy 
locations, therefore their impact on local air quality and the 
public’s exposure to air pollution is often greater than the overall 
number of vehicles in operation would suggest. Therefore, the 
adoption of low emission TPH vehicles can potentially have a 
positive impact on residents’ health, reducing admissions to local 
NHS departments.

Benefits for operators
— Drivers and operators replacing their vehicles with LEV models 
 will not be required to pay a charge to enter a charging Clean 
 Air Zone (CAZ), the Ultra-Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) or other 
 regional Low Emission Zone (LEZ) that include taxis and 
 private hire vehicles; 

— Applying a whole life cost (WLC) analysis often shows that best 
 in class vehicles are cheaper to operate than conventional and 
 older technology vehicles;

— Existing grants offer financial support for the adoption of 
 ULEVs as taxis;

— LAs have introduced a variety of incentives that favour low 
 emission TPH vehicles, such as reduced parking charges and 
 priority use of taxi ranks;

— Licensing rules may favour low emission taxis in the form of 
 new licence availability or licence fees.

Benefits for customers
TPH vehicles serve different purposes in urban and rural areas. 
Compared with other modes of transport, they provide a high 
degree of flexibility and convenience to passengers. In rural areas 
in particular, TPH vehicles may be the only form of public transport 
available. 

A low emission TPH vehicle may improve the customer 
experience:

— The journey in the lowest emission vehicles may be more 
 comfortable for the passenger, as hybrids (when running in 
 electric drive mode) and electric vehicles are quieter and 
 smoother than conventional cars.

— The customer may consider the purchase of a LEV following 
 the positive experience of being driven in one.

— Increased convenience if low emission TPH vehicles can 
 access priority taxi ranks and ULEV only bus lanes.

¹  DFT Transport and Environment Statistics, 2016

²  Air Quality Action Plan for Nitrogen Dioxide in UK, Defra 2015

Local road 
traffic 
60%

35%,
Cars

(diesel)

2%,
Taxis

(diesel)
22%

 Vans
(diesel)

18%,
HGVs

(diesel)

16%,
Buses

(diesel)

8%,
Cars

(petrol)

1%,
Other

(petrol)

Road traffic 
background 

18%

Non-road 
transport 

and mobile 
machinery 

5%

Homes, 
industry and 
commerce 

9%

Regional 
background 

8%

Source: PCM modelling provided by Ricardo Energy & Environment (2017) Note: ‘Local 
road traffic’ in the large pie chart is the estimate of the proportion of local NOx roadside 
concentrations contributed by traffic on that road and is shown in greater detail in the smaller 
pie chart. ‘Road traffic background’ is the estimate of NOx concentrations contributed by 
traffic on other roads. *Other (petrol) is made up of petrol vans and motorcycles. HGVs = 
Heavy Goods Vehicles

Euro 6
diesel 

diesel hybrid 
CVRAS/TfL approved LPG              
repower diesel black taxi

Euro 4
petrol 

petrol hybrid
LPG conversion 

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



8 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   9      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

1.4   The taxi and private hire market 
         and fleet profile 

The TPH market in the UK consists of participants that provide 
vehicles for personal and business transport. TPH vehicles fall 
into two categories: taxis (also known as hackney carriages (HC)), 
and private hire vehicles (PHVs, also known as private hire cars 
in Scotland). The significant distinction between taxis and PHVs 
is that taxis can be hailed and pick up customers directly on the 
street and can also use ranks, whilst PHVs must be pre-booked 
through a licensed operator. 

Characteristics of taxis:
Figure 3. 

Characteristics of PHVs:
Figure 4.

Taxi and private hire fleet profile

Key TPH facts and figures in England and Wales⁶:
At the end of March 2017:

— 290,900 vehicles were licensed as TPH vehicles in England 
 and Wales;

— 72% of all TPH licensed vehicles in England and Wales were 
 private hire vehicles;

— Private hire vehicle driver licences in London increased by 78% 
 since 2013/14⁷;

— 39% of the total number of licensed TPH vehicles in England 
 were in London;

— 56% of licensed taxis in England and Wales were wheelchair 
 accessible vehicles (WAV);

— In 2016, a quarter (24%) of taxi or PHV trips in England were 
 under 2 miles, and half were between 2 and 5 miles.

1.5   An overview of taxi and 
         private hire licensing  

Outside London the local district council is usually the licensing 
authority for vehicles and drivers. In London, Transport for London 
(TfL) is responsible for licensing TPH vehicles and their drivers. The 
licensing conditions that are applied to the TPH operators, drivers 
and vehicles are decided by each local licensing authority, so in 
the case of vehicle requirements can vary considerably from area 
to area. 

As each LA decides its licensing policy, there are many variations 
around the country. Taxi fleets are often required to be at least in 
part wheelchair accessible; policy may require kerb side access 
and larger vehicles, or rear access which can be achieved using a 
smaller base vehicle. In some areas there may be a requirement 
for a certain proportion of WAVs with the remainder being saloon 
style cars. 

Taxis can be pre-booked and operate like PHVs anywhere outside 
of their licensed area, including cross-border. PHVs may also work 
outside of their own licensing area. For PHVs, the driver, vehicle 
and operator must be licensed with the same LA but they are able 
to complete jobs outside of their own licensing area as long as 
the booking is routed through or sub-contracted to an operator in 
their licensing area. 

It is important to note that the cross-border operation is only 
allowed when vehicles are operated like PHVs and not like taxis. 

The PH market is less regulated regarding vehicle specifications 
and although a particular licensing authority may impose strict 
rules on the age and type of car being licensed in their jurisdiction, 
PHVs licensed in other authorities are able to operate cross 
border⁹. PHVs are usually not required to be WAVs and smaller 
saloon cars usually make up the majority of the fleet in a licensing 
authority area. 

Vehicles for use as taxis in London have to satisfy the metropolitan 
Conditions of Fitness¹⁰. A number of licensing authorities 
throughout England and Wales have adopted conditions of fitness 
similar to those imposed in London and only allow vehicles that 
meet them to be licensed in their areas. 

The type and size of vehicles licensed by an authority should 
recognise local transport needs. Larger vehicles (up to eight 
passenger seats) may be hired for community services such as 
the transport of vulnerable adults or children and WAVs hired 
where the transport of disabled passengers is required. A range of 
vehicles across the TPH fleet will consider these requirements as 
well as the demand for competitively priced, flexible public and 
business transport services including more luxurious cars typically 
used for executive travel to and from airports or between office 
locations.  

Vehicle age and mileage driven:
The graphs below shows the average vehicle age and the daily 
mileage driven by a number of TPH fleets in the UK following a 
study by Energy Saving Trust (EST), commissioned by the Office for 
Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) in 2016⁸. The average age of taxis 
ranges from under 7 to over 15 years and 12 years is common. 
PHVs tend to be younger and according to this study an average 
of 9 years old. In terms of daily mileage, taxis travel on average 91 
miles while PHVs cover 128 miles. 

The majority of TPH vehicles which are 13 years old will be diesel 
and meet the Euro 4 diesel emissions standard. However in terms 
of NOx the emissions limit for these vehicles is more than three 
times the limit for Euro 6. Vehicles over 13 years old will be at best 
Euro 3, with a NOx emissions limit six times the Euro 6 limit. The 
Air quality section provides more details about the harmful air 
pollutant NOx. 

Figure 5. Average TPH vehicle age

Figure 6. Average TPH daily mileage

Key TPH facts and figures in Scotland²:
At October/November 2017:

— 10,393 vehicles were licensed as taxis, 4,903 were WAVs (47%)
— 12,959 vehicles were licenced as private hire cars, 294 were 
 WAVs (2%)

— Taxi numbers have declined by 143 during the last 12 months, 
 private hire cars have increased by 837.

Maximum fares 
are calculated by a 
meter (taximeter) 

set by the LA.

Vehicles are 
often wheelchair 

accessible 
with additional 

accessibility features.

Maximum fares tend to 
be regulated by their 
respective licensing 

authority.

Can ‘ply for hire’ and 
be hailed on-street or 

from a taxi rank.

Can also be 
pre-booked.

All journeys must be booked 
through a licensed private 

hire operator.

Cannot ‘ply for hire’ or use 
taxi ranks.

Fares tend to be 
unregulated, although 

fares are typically distance 
based and agreed before 

travel.

Wide range of vehicles 
available, including saloons, 

people carriers, chauffeur 
and executive cars and 

limousines.

Ye
ar

s

12

14

16

18

10

8

6

4

2

0
City A City B City C City D City E City GCity F

Average HC age (years) Average PH age (years)

120

140

100

80

60

40

20

0
City A City B City C City D City E City F

Average HC daily mileage Average PH daily mileage

1 Introduction

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



10 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   11      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

Launched on 9th July 2018, ‘The Road to Zero’¹¹ outlines the 
Government’s strategy to deliver a zero emission future for road 
transport for the UK. 

The Government’s ambition is to end sales of new conventional 
petrol and diesel cars and vans by 2040. As an interim target, it 
expects at least 50%, and as many as 70%, of new car sales to be 
ultra-low emission, and up to 40% of new van sales by 2030.  

2.1  Air quality  

Air pollution remains the most common environmental cause 
of preventable illness and premature deaths across the UK. In 
urban areas, pollutant emissions from diesel vehicles, particularly 
those manufactured before 2016, are frequently the cause of the 
majority of local air pollution.

There is an extensive body of evidence that long-term exposure 
to everyday air pollutants over several years contributes to 
the development of cardiovascular disease, lung cancer and 
respiratory diseases. Taxis are predominantly diesel powered, as 
are PHVs (although hybrids have been quite popular amongst the 
private hire trade over the last few years). Their high mileage and 
proximity to large numbers of pedestrians, particularly around 
transport hubs and retail centres, make their contribution to poor 
air quality highly significant. The two pollutants of most concern 
are particulate matter (PM) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2).

In July 2017 the Government published the “UK plan for tackling 
roadside NO2 concentrations”⁷, which originally required local 
authorities in areas expected to exceed the European Union (EU) 
NO2 limit values beyond the next three or four years to develop 
innovative local plans that will achieve statutory NO2 limit values 
within the ‘’shortest possible time’. The plan identified Clean Air 
Zones that include charging as the measure to achieve statutory 
NO2 limit values in towns and cities in the shortest possible time. 

Twenty-nine authorities have been directed by the Government 
to conduct feasibility studies into the best options for achieving 
compliance with legal limits for NO2 in the shortest possible 
time, as part of the air quality plan. Five cities (Birmingham, 
Leeds, Nottingham, Derby and Southampton) must as part of 
their feasibility study, prepare a full business case for their area 
which were submitted to the Secretary of State before the 15th 
September 2018 deadline. These plans included charging Clean 
Air Zones for Birmingham, Leeds and Southampton, while 
Nottingham and Derby have submitted plans to introduce new 
traffic management measures to tackle air quality that they 
believe will not require the implementation of a CAZ. A number 
of other local authorities were required to submit local plans to 
the Secretary of State by 31 December 2018, which may include 
proposals to introduce CAZ.  

London Ultra Low Emission Zone
London will be introducing an Ultra-Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) 
on 8th April 2019, which will be the same area as the current 
Congestion Charge zone. There will be a charge of £12.50 per 
day for non-compliant cars, vans and motorcycles and £100 per 
day for heavy vehicles to enter the zone. However, unlike the 
Congestion Charge and the T-charge (where the £10 a day fee 
to enter the zone for vehicles not compliant with at least Euro 4 
emissions limits only applies Mon to Fri, 07.00-18.00) the ULEZ 
will apply 24 hours/365 days a year. London will not be charging 
taxis as revised condition of fitness will apply in order to achieve 
early compliance. PHVs will need to meet ULEZ standards or 
pay an additional daily charge when travelling within central 
London¹⁶,¹⁷.

Air quality and clean air zones in Scotland
The Scottish Government has outlined plans to have four Low 
Emission Zones in place to address air quality in the country 
by 2020, with the first to be established in Glasgow by the end 
of 2018. Glasgow’s LEZ will initially only include bus routes into 
the city centre though a consultation is currently underway 
investigating the expansion to a wider area and the inclusion 
of additional vehicle types. Alongside Glasgow, LEZs are 
also expected to be established in Edinburgh, Aberdeen and 
Dundee. As part of these plans, Transport Scotland launched a 
consultation to seek feedback from stakeholders and the general 
public. There was a high level of consensus among respondents 
with 95.5% supporting the principle of LEZs to help improve air 
quality in Scotland. 62% of the respondents were also supportive 
of a potential minimum standard of Euro 6 for diesel cars, Euro 4 
for petrol cars and Euro VI for buses. This process will help inform 
the development of the LEZ policy, helping to shape the guiding 
principles that the Scottish Government will adopt to design, 
establish and operate Scottish LEZs¹⁸.

Air quality and clean air zones in Wales
The Welsh Government is seeking views on its CAZ proposals, 
which include stopping the most polluting vehicles from 
entering a CAZ or charging them to enter¹⁹.  The consultation 
has been launched following the announcement by the Welsh 
Government of a £20 million air quality fund, which will run until 
2021, to support local authorities to comply with NO2 limits and 
improve air quality in their areas. 

There is no specific requirement on any LA in Wales to introduce 
a CAZ. However, LAs may choose to introduce a CAZ in order 
to address air quality issues locally, whether as a result of 
identified legal exceedances or as part of a health improvement 
programme to address poor air quality. Cardiff Council have 
decided, after being directed to develop options to bring about 
compliance with statutory NO2 values, that a charging CAZ will 
not be necessary in the city.

Vehicles which meet at least the minimum emission standard 
for the CAZ will be able to enter or move within the zone free of 
charge (Table 2). Fully electric or hydrogen fuel cell ULEVs will be 
able to enter or move within zones free of charge.

Table 2. Charging Clean Air Zone minimum emission standards

More than £40 million from the Government’s £255 million 
Implementation Fund has been awarded to support LAs taking 
action as soon as possible to improve air quality. A £220 million 
Clean Air Fund was launched in March 2018 to minimise the 
impact of local plans on individuals and businesses. The range 
of options LAs could consider to utilise this money includes 
new park and ride services, freight consolidation centres, 
concessionary travel schemes and improvements to bus and 
taxis/PHV fleets.

Working closely with EST and DfT/DEFRA’s Joint Air Quality 
Unit (JAQU), LowCVP has developed the Clean Vehicle Retrofit 
Accreditation Scheme (CVRAS). Retrofit technologies can be fitted 
to legacy diesel vehicles to reduce NOx and PM emissions and 
meet CAZ emission standards.  The scheme addresses the air 
pollution emissions from buses, coaches, heavy goods vehicles, 
mini-buses, black taxis and vans. The scheme provides a means 
of certifying the performance of retrofit technologies, and the 
companies supplying the equipment. 

The CVRAS website¹⁴ has a list of certified technologies and 
companies. Only technologies approved by the CVRAS are CAZ 
compliant. The scheme is also applicable to retrofit technologies 
fitted to diesel vehicles operating in the London Ultra-Low 
Emission Zone and Scotland’s proposed Low Emission Zones.  At 
present the only retrofit technology approved for black taxis is 
engine repowering with LPG. Transport for London have their 
own black taxi LPG repowering approval scheme¹⁵ which is based 
on vehicle modification achieving Euro 6 emission limits.

Given the potential impacts on individuals and businesses, when 
considering between equally effective alternatives to deliver 
compliance, the Government believes that if a LA can identify 
measures other than charging zones that are at least as effective 
at reducing NO2, those measures should be preferred – as long as 
the LA can demonstrate that this will deliver compliance as quickly 
as a charging CAZ. This, for instance, could be the introduction of 
emission requirements for TPH vehicles using existing licensing 
powers.

A CAZ defines an area where “targeted action is taken to improve 
air quality and resources are prioritised and coordinated in order 
to shape the urban environment in a way that delivers improved 
health benefits and supports economic growth”. There are two 
types of CAZs:

— Non-charging CAZ, where a range of actions to improve air  
 quality can be deployed including (but not limited to) 
 measures to encourage the use of public transport, walking 
 and cycling, the uptake of ULEVs or road layout changes at 
 congestion and air pollution pinch points;

— Charging CAZ, where in addition to the above, vehicle owners 
 are required to pay a charge to enter or move within a zone 
 if they are driving a vehicle that does not meet the particular 
 standard for their vehicle type in that zone. Under the CAZ 
 Framework for England¹², charging CAZs are sub-divided into  
 classes A - D on the basis of the types of vehicles to which the 
 charging schemes may apply (Table 1). 

Table 1. Recommended charging Clean Air Zone Classes

2 National measures to reduce road transport emissions

Charging 
CAZ Class

Vehicles potentially included

Buses, coaches, taxis and private hire vehicles

Buses, coaches, heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) 
taxis and private hire vehicles

Buses, coaches, HGVs, large vans, mini buses, 
small vans/light commercials, taxis and 
private hire vehicles

Buses, coaches, HGVs, large vans, mini buses, 
small vans/light commercials, taxis and 
private hire vehicles, cars, motorcycles and 
mopeds¹³.

Vehicle Type CAZ minimum emission standard

Buses and 
coaches

Diesel Euro VI

HGVs Diesel Euro VI

Vans Euro 6 (diesel) Euro 4 (petrol/LPG)

Taxis and 
private hire 

vehicles

Euro 6 (diesel) Euro 4 (petrol/LPG)

Cars Euro 6 (diesel) Euro 4 (petrol/LPG)

Motorcycles 
and mopeds

Euro 3

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



12 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   13      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

2.2   Climate change

The 2008 Climate Change Act commits the UK to reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions by at least 80% (from the 1990 
baseline) by 2050. In 2016, transport became the largest emitting 
sector of UK greenhouse gas emissions, accounting for 26% of UK 
greenhouse gas emissions . A number of EU and UK Government 
policies are in place to reduce these emissions:

— The EU New Car CO2 regulation sets a mandatory targets 
 for the fleet average gCO2/km of cars sold by 
 manufacturers. The target for cars is 95g CO2/km to be 
 achieved by 2021.

— The UK Government has introduced a range of fiscal 
 measures to incentivise the adoption of low carbon 
 vehicles (including ULEVs). Further details are in the 
 Government Grants and Incentives for Low Emission 
 Vehicles section. 

— The Government is encouraging the uptake of electric 
 vehicles through a wide range of incentive schemes 
 covering vehicles, infrastructure and manufacturing. 
 Following the autumn 2017 Budget, the amount invested in 
 the period 2015-2020 will be almost £1.5 billion. 

Worldwide Harmonised Light Vehicle Test 
Procedure and Real World Driving Regulations 
Currently, CO2 figures used for reporting manufacturers’ 
compliance with new car CO2 targets, and Government CO2 
based car taxation are derived from the New European Drive 
Cycle (NEDC) test procedure. In recent years, there has been 
a growing gap in the fuel consumption (and therefore CO2 
emission) values obtained on the NEDC test and the figures that 
drivers achieve on the road. The NEDC has been in place for 
more than two decades and has become outdated in terms of 
accurately testing new vehicles. 

The World Harmonised Light Vehicle Test Procedure (WLTP) 
is the new global test procedure for measuring new car fuel 
and energy consumption, air pollution and CO2 emissions, and 
electric range. WLTP will replace the NEDC test procedure. WLTP 
introduces more realistic and robust testing conditions for new 
cars, based on a wide range of real driving conditions and stricter 
procedures. This will provide consumers with more accurate and 
representative fuel consumption, electric range and emission 
values²¹.  As the test procedure is more accurate, the reported 
CO2 emission values will be higher for the same car model tested 
under the old NEDC test. 

From 1 September 2017 it became mandatory for all new car 
models to be type approved under WLTP.  From 1 September 
2018 nearly all new car registrations will be required to be type 
approved under WLTP. In January 2019 all consumer official 
fuel economy and EV range information will switch from NEDC 
to WLTP. However, the NEDC CO2 figures will still be used for 
taxation purposes. April 2020 sees the complete transition to 
WLTP, when the WLTP CO2 figures will also be used for vehicle 
tax, replacing the old NEDC values. Local authorities who have 

Additional grants and incentives 
available in Scotland²⁸ 
Additional grant funding is available in Scotland:

Grant funding for workplace electric vehicle charge 
point installations
On top of OLEV’s Workplace Charging Scheme, grant funding is 
available to help organisations to install EV chargepoints on their 
premises. 

Switched On @Work
Switched On @Work supports organisations interested in helping 
their employees to identify the benefits of switching to ULEVs. 
ULEVs range from pure EVs, PHEVs and E-REVs. 

Low carbon transport business loan
Interest-free loans of up to £100,000 are available to Scottish 
businesses to help lower their transport and travel costs.  These 
loans have a repayment term of up to 6 years and can be used to 
meet the cost of a wide range of sustainable measures including 
pure EVs and PHEVs.

EV loan
The interest-free EV loan currently offers drivers in Scotland loans 
of up to £35,000 to cover the cost of purchasing a new pure 
EV/ PHEV. The loan has a repayment term of up to six years. The 
purchased EV should be the only plug-in vehicle owned by the 
applicant and must be eligible for the ‘plug-in car grant’ funded by 
OLEV. Second hand vehicles are not eligible.

Low carbon hackney cab loan
Interest-free loans of up to £120,000 are available from EST, 
funded by Transport Scotland, to enable owners and operators of 
HCs to replace conventional internal combustion engine hackney 
cabs, regardless of age, with newer, more efficient Euro 6 models. 
Please note that the loan cannot be used for PH or saloon 
vehicles.

Domestic chargepoint funding
Funding is currently available towards the cost of home charge 
points for EVs from EST and OLEV. EST will provide up to £300 
further funding on top of the OLEV grant (EVHS).

Plug-in vehicle grant²³ 
Grants towards the cost of eligible vehicles are based on   
 emissions and zero emission driving range.

OLEV maintains the list of eligible vehicles as well as full details of 
categories and the grants available at www.gov.uk/plug-in-car-
van-grants.

The grant is automatically deducted from the retail price when an 
eligible vehicle is purchased, so there is no additional paperwork 
to complete, and there's no need to pay the full retail price and 
then reclaim the benefit. 

The Plug-in Taxi Grants (Category 1&2 Taxis) are only available 
for new purpose built ULEV taxis that meet the eligibility criteria 
specified in the OLEV guidance²⁴. Please note, criteria for grants 
are subject to change and applicants should refer to the OLEV 
Guidance for more details.

On-street Residential Chargepoint Scheme²⁵
The On-street Residential Chargepoint Scheme (ORCS) managed 
by EST provides grant funding for LAs towards the cost of 
installing on-street residential chargepoints for plug-in electric 
vehicles. LAs can receive 75% of funding for the installation 
and procurement costs of chargepoints for residents without 
access to off street parking. OLEV will provide up to £7,500 per 
chargepoint installation and each project should not exceed 
more than £100k of OLEV funding.

Although this funding cannot be used to support the installation 
of chargepoints for the primary use of taxi fleets, installations 
near individual taxi drivers’ homes, where no off street parking is 
available, are eligible.

EV Homecharge Scheme²⁶
EV users can receive funding from OLEV to install a home 
chargepoint for their plug-in vehicle through the Electric Vehicle 
Homecharge Scheme (EVHS). This provides a grant of up to 
75%of the eligible costs of a chargepoint and its installation 
(capped at £500, inc. VAT) for the registered keeper, lessee or 
nominated primary user of a new or second-hand eligible electric 
vehicle from 1st October 2016. 

Find out more about eligibility criteria and a list of approved 
installers at www.gov.uk/government/publications/electric-
vehicle-homecharge-scheme-guidance-for-customers-
version-22 

Workplace Charge Scheme²⁷ 
The Workplace Charging Scheme (WCS) is a voucher-based 
scheme that provides support towards the up-front costs of the 
purchase and installation of electric vehicle charge-points, for 
eligible businesses, charities and public sector organisations. The 
contribution is limited to £300 for each socket up to a maximum 
of 20 sockets across all sites for each application.

policies related to car CO2 emissions are advised to continue 
using the NEDC CO2 emission figure and switch to WLTP CO2 
figure in 2020.  For more information about WLTP visit the 
LowCVP website at www.lowcvp.org.uk/wltp

The Real Drive Emission Regulations (RDE) came into force at 
the same time as WLTP and specifically affects light duty vehicle 
air pollution emissions. The RDE test measures the NOx and 
PM emission on the road, over a range of driving conditions 
using Portable Emission Testing (PEMS) equipment. It will be 
implemented over several years. RDE Stage 1, referred to as 
Euro 6d (Temp), applied to new car model registrations from 
September 2017, followed by all registered models in September 
2019 . RDE Stage 2, Euro 6d (Full), will apply for new car 
registrations from January 2020. 

At the 2017 Autumn Budget, it was announced that from 1 April 
2018 purchasers of new diesel cars that do not meet the RDE 
Stage 2 standard will have to pay a ‘diesel’ supplement on the first 
year’s Vehicle Excise Duty (VED). This increases the first year tax 
rate applicable by one VED band. 

.2.3   Government grants and incentives 
         for low emission vehicles

At the time of writing this guide, the following grants are available 
and confirmed until at least October 2018.:

Grants and incentives available across the UK 

OLEV funding for taxi charging infrastructure²²
A second round of funding for local authorities to install charging 
infrastructure for ultra low emission taxis was held in 2018 by the 
Office for Low Emission Vehicles as part of the Government’s 
Road to Zero strategy. Energy Saving Trust provided support to 
local authorities to help plan their bids to access this funding.

Winners of this funding round were announced in February 2019. 
The full list of successful bids can be found at https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/ultra-low-emission-taxi-infrastructure-
scheme-round-2

2 National measures to reduce road transport emissions

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



14 The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

Other national and regional incentives for 
low emission TPH vehicles

Table 4 lists a range of other national and regional fiscal incentives 
for low and ultra low emission vehicles. 

3  Best practice guidance for local authorities

LAs have the powers to deliver clean and low carbon TPH 
schemes in their local areas through implementing a range 
of local policy measures and initiatives. A number of cities are 
demonstrating best practice in terms of delivering a variety of 
measures to encourage their local TPH companies to switch 
to low emission vehicles. These range from introducing new 
conditions in taxi licensing, establishing emission based road 
access restrictions, offering fiscal incentives, running awareness 
raising and promotional activities, to introducing electric vehicle 
infrastructure. 

Table 4.  Other fiscal incentives low emission TPH vehicles

2 National measures to reduce road transport emissions

Incentive Description

CAZ or ULEZ access Vehicles meeting the LEV definition will not be charged to enter 'charging' CAZ or the ULEZ. 

VED for ultra low 
emission vehicles

Most ULEVs registered before April 2017 are exempt from VED. However, following changes to how VED is 
calculated from April 2017, some ULEVs are brought into a charging band²⁹ but they pay a lower first year 
rate. 

VED rates for electric 
taxis

In March 2018 HM Treasury confirmed that all taxis eligible for the Plug-in Taxi Grant (PITG) are exempt 
from the VED charging band for cars over £40,000 list price. This is worth £1,550 over the first six years of 
the vehicle’s life.

Corporation tax
Businesses buying cars can write down 100% of the purchase price against their corporation tax liability if 
the vehicle emits no more than 50g/km CO2 emissions. 

Parking
Free parking and/or reduced cost of resident parking permits may also be available to further encourage 
the uptake of low emission vehicles in some urban areas. 

Clean Air 
Fund

Local authoritiess can apply for funding for low emission taxi and PHV initiatives such as offering drivers 
grants or loans to purchase ULEVs or repowered LPG diesel black taxis (CVRAS approved).

Fuel duty 
Electricity and hydrogen benefit from zero fuel duty. Fuel duty for LPG is lower than petrol and diesel.

Taxi licensing and vehicle emission based road access restrictions 
(such as charging CAZ) are regulatory interventions that can 
deliver the quickest fleet turnover and emission reductions. It 
is recommended that before the introduction of such policies 
proactive engagement is made with the local taxi trade. 

The establishment of communication channels will help ensure 
that licencing authorities understand the trade’s requirements, 
the challenges they face switching to / purchasing low emission 
vehicles and the most effective approach to support them. Given 
the variety of local authority regions across the country, socio-
economic differences and taxi journey profiles, not all TPH 
companies will be able to adopt ULEVs in the near term. 
A pragmatic approach should therefore be taken and a range of 
low emission vehicles promoted. 

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



16 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   17      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

3.1  What to consider before making 
        any policy changes

Set the scene
In the first instance LAs need to have a good understanding of 
the profile of their TPH fleet. Some key indicators of the fleet’s 
profile are average age, CO2 emissions, mileage driven and Euro 
Standard. On board technology, such as telematics, can be 
installed to provide accurate information about the journeys a 
vehicle has made, the mileage, the time and duration of break to 
assess the feasibility of these journeys being operated in electric 
vehicles. This information will shape the level of intervention an 
authority can make, especially with regards to setting appropriate 
timescales to requesting fleet renewals. For instance, a more 
drastic approach will be required for a very old, polluting fleet 
while different interventions will be required for a relatively 
modern fleet that can become even cleaner.

Engagement with the trade 
The introduction of charging CAZs, or other restricted access 
schemes, and stricter licencing requirements has the potential to 
significantly impact TPH companies financially, due to the need 
to invest in cleaner vehicles. Smaller organisations will face greater 
challenges. 

It is of paramount importance for licencing authorities to hold 
regular meetings with the trade and understand how they 
can support the industry with this transition. This engagement 
should be used to establish an open, honest and constructive 
relationship between the authorities and the trade as drivers and 
operators will have an opportunity to share their views on the 
technology proposed and suggest support measures to make the 
transition smoother and easier. 

Drivers and operators of TPH vehicles will need to make some 
important decisions when it comes to compliance of their fleet 
with new proposed standards. These decisions may have a 
significant impact on their businesses’ finances. It is important 
that LAs consult with TPH operators and give advanced warning 
of any policy changes and associated timelines. LA should seek 
feedback from the trade on the proposed changes. Clear lines 
of communication should be opened and maintained between 
LAs and the TPH trade to provide opportunities for a constructive 
dialogue. Vehicle demonstrations and opportunities for drivers to 
test the vehicles should be provided. 

Consider socio-economic factors
The operation of TPH vehicles includes social dimensions which 
should be considered by LAs before any policy measures are 
introduced. These include TPH driver working conditions, job 
insecurity, income and occupational health which have an impact 
on affordability issues faced by TPH fleets, especially outside 
London.

Taxis and PHVs help to connect low income groups with 
employment opportunities and access to vital services, 
particularly in areas where public transport is not readily available. 
In addition, the TPH market creates employment opportunities 
across communities which might not otherwise exist⁸.

Council departmental engagement
Engagement with different departments across the Council will 
ensure all stakeholders are aware of the issues the trade faces, 
proposed solutions and how these solutions are going to be 
delivered. Key departments are: planning, estates, taxi licensing, 
parking, air quality as well as colleagues from outside bodies such 
as a County Council which may have responsibility for roads. 
All should be consulted and kept up to date with any proposed 
changes. Low emission taxi policies should be embedded across 
Council plans and strategies to galvanise change and encourage 
collaboration. A number of cities have produced a taxi and PHV 
strategy that covers specific measures and initiatives related to low 
and ultra low emission vehicles. 

3.2  Local policy measures and initiatives

Outlined below are a range of policy measures and initiatives 
local authorities can introduce to encourage the adoption of 
low and ultra low emission vehicles.  These are followed by best 
practice city case studies. 

Southampton City Council  and 
Eastleigh Borough Council have 
introduced Low Emission Taxi 
Incentive Scheme offers cash back 
for replacement of a more polluting 
TPH vehicle with a low emission 
alternative. The amount of cash 
back varies between £1,500 and 
£3,000 depending on the alternative. 
More details can be found on the 
Southampton City Council's website³⁰.

 

Regulatory Measures

Restricted vehicle access 
Introduce access restriction schemes, based on Euro standards, where compliant vehicles can enter for free while non-compliant vehicles 
are charged, eg charging CAZ and London ULEZ where LEVs and ULEVs enter free of charge. More ambitious ‘zero emission’ zones could be 
considered as the market for zero emission capable TPH vehicles expands.

Revise conditions of fitness 
Revise ‘conditions of fitness’ for newly licensed vehicles to state that they must meet LEV emission standards as a minimum. More ambition 
could be encouraged through requiring ‘best in class’ CO2 emission vehicles and ULEVs. 

Vehicle age limits for new vehicles 
Revise the age restrictions for newly licensed vehicles – including the age at which vehicles can first be licensed (for example Euro 6) and a 
total age limit. Consider higher age limits for ULEVs.

Vehicle age limits for existing vehicles 
Phase in a more ambitious age restriction on existing vehicles. Compliance with any access restriction zones may require this process to be 
accelerated.

TPH emission standards 
Regulate that all or a proportion of TPH vehicles in a licencing authority must be LEV and/or ULEV by a certain date. 

Flexible licensing caps
Implement flexible licensing caps to give LEV/ULEV drivers priority in accessing a new license. 

Dedicated ULEV-only taxi ranks
Introduce ULEV-only taxi ranks or spaces at the head of ranks in prime locations.

Introduce concessions to address trade issues
Issues aired by the trade may be resolved alongside a commitment to operate LEVs. An example could be by creating “green licences” enabling 
those restricted from joining the trade being able to do so by operating a LEV.

Planning policy to encourage adoption of ULEVs 
Set planning conditions, and use s106 agreements, to require charging infrastructure in new developments, ULEV only parking bays and taxi 
ranks.

Financial Measures

Reduced fees for TPH licences and renewals 
TPH operators pay less for LEV/ULEV TPH licenses. 

Stipulate the use of LEVs/ULEVs as part of LA procurement guidelines
Include criteria in TPH contract tenders to make these more favourable to operators with LEV or ULEV fleets. Work with local NHS Trust(s) 
and education authorities to modify criteria of patient/pupil transport contract tenders to require TPH operators to utilise a certain number of 
LEVs/ULEVs.

Provide competitive advantages 
Work with local land owners, larger businesses and station operators to provide a package of benefits to LEV/ULEV drivers, which allow them 
to be more competitive.

Rebates and other financial incentives
Offer grants or loans to encourage purchase of ULEV taxis and CVRAS approved retrofit technologies. Consideration should also be given to 
incentivising uptake of second hand ULEVs. 
LA could purchase a range of LEV/ULEVs and lease to local drivers.
ULEV drivers have access to charging infrastructure either at a reduce cost or for free.
Offer grants or local incentives for local business to support installation of charging infrastructure

Financial incentives to encourage old vehicle 
replacement – taxi scrappage scheme
Offer cash back to drivers who replace older polluting vehicles with LEV/ULEVs. 

Parking restrictions/permits
Allow free or discounted parking for ULEVs in certain locations, restrict parking of internal combustion engine vehicles in EV-only bays and 
impose parking fines.
Allow free access to car parks where dedicated TPH charging infrastructure is located.

Install public charging infrastructure 
Fund the installation and operation of rapid charging infrastructure on-street and in car parks. 

3  Best practice guidance for local authorities

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



18 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   19      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

3.3   Policy case studies

Oxford City Council

 
Oxford City Council and Oxfordshire County Council are 
proposing to introduce the world’s first ‘Zero Emission Zone’ 
(ZEZ) in Oxford city centre in an effort to reduce air pollution. The 
proposal will see diesel and petrol vehicles banned from Oxford 
city centre in phases, starting with some vehicle types and a small 
number of streets in 2020, and - as vehicle technology develops - 
moving to all vehicle types across the whole city centre in 2035.

The City Council plans to install £500,000 of EV charging points 
for taxis and to phase out older, high-emitting hackney cabs from 
the city in another effort to reduce air pollution. The charging 
points will be ‘rapid’ and ‘fast’ chargers to enable drivers to quickly 
charge batteries during breaks. The City Council won £370,000 
of funding from OLEV for the project. The aim is to seek the 
remaining funding from private investment.

The Council is working closely with hackney carriage drivers 
trying to understand the hurdles they face and ways to support 
them before any policy changes are introduced. A number of 
engagement events will take place where drivers can test drive 
zero emission capable (ZEC) taxis, ask questions and share their 
feedback with the authorities. Oxford is also involved in a project 
alongside Cenex and other LAs using computer modelling to 
identify cost efficient options for taxi drivers to operate ZEC taxis, 
based upon information from local drivers and real world Oxford 
duty cycles.

The low emission taxi scheme also sets out, for the first time, the 
City Council’s intention to require all newly-licenced taxis to be 
ULEVS (by the end of 2020 - subject to vehicle availability). 

Oxford City Council officers have pledged to provide a range of 
support to taxi drivers and owners, for example supporting drivers 
to seek additional income from on-cab advertising and other 
sources, helping operators apply for grants to install charging 
points at their homes or businesses, and producing detailed 
business cases to help drivers plan their purchases. 

Case study

Dundee City Council

 

Dundee is one of four cities identified by the Scottish 
Government as being required to set up a LEZ. The adoption of 
EVs is a central approach to improving air quality in Dundee. The 
Council is leading by example, having 87 electric vehicles in its

Promotional Measures

Awareness raising campaigns for Low Emission Vehicles
Conduct analysis and produce case studies illustrating the local, real-life business case for taxi drivers and operators. Promote on the Council’s 
website and events.

Raise awareness of existing grants and other financial incentives for ULEVs,  highlighting the business case and cost saving benefits for 
operators.. Inform drivers of the location of charging infrastructure, show these on the Council’s website, create a local charging phone app. 

Organise local road shows with industry representatives and organisations (such as EST) to promote practical and business benefits of LEVs/
ULEVs.  

Local taxi fleet demonstrations and trials of ULEVs
Work in partnership with vehicle manufacturers to offer drivers the opportunity to test ULEVs in their fleet. 

3  Best practice guidance for local authorities

Nottingham City Council will be running an Ultra Low Emission Vehicle 
Experience project that forms part of the Council’s Workplace Travel Service. 
The project is about supporting local businesses in Nottingham to adopt 
ULEVs through offering fully funded fleet reviews, try before you buy vehicle 
loans and organising staff engagement events with ride and drive events.

In Bristol taxi drivers are being offered subsidies of more than £3,000 if they 
purchase an electric car to help improve air quality in Bristol. The package of 
incentives on offer includes five year subsidies to cover the costs for: licencing 
fees at £187 per year, certificate of conformity fee at £50 per year, permit to 
operate at Temple Meads Railway Station at £490 per year. 

fleet, ranging from Nissan eNV200 electric vans to Kia Souls and 
Peugeot Ion cars.  Since first introducing electric vehicless in 2011, 
the council have realised maintenance cost reductions of up to 
30% and fleet running costs of approximately 2/3 pence per mile.

Before they implemented any policy measures to clean the TPH 
fleet, council officers spent some time to understand the trades’ 
requirements. They organised quarterly meetings with the trade to 
improve communications and understand the issues drivers were 
concerned about. Council officers and officials then presented 
a variety of initiatives which resulted in the following new policy 
measures:

1. As of September 2016, all new PH vehicles had to be pure EVs.
2. Hackney carriage vehicles wanting to have company plates 
 can only do so as long as the new vehicle they use is an EV.
3. The drivers of pure electric or a plug-in hybrid vehicles do 
 not pay electricity costs to charge the vehicle when using 
 public fchargepoints.
4. Electric taxis in Dundee are very popular and a few factors 
 that supported this switch to electric are: 

— an EV only taxi rank outside a recently refurbished hotel 
 near the train station in Dundee

— a £10 discount off the cost taxi drivers pay for their regular 
 vehicle test

— fully functioning integrated EV charging infrastructure 
 supported by one back office provider

— 4 new rapid charging hubs located across the city that will 
 provide priority EV taxi charging

A catalyst for all these measures was the installation of 5 rapid 
charging points and the introduction of 30 Nissan Leafs by the 
Dundee Taxi firm 203020 back in 2015.These taxis have now 
completed over 3 million miles between them.

Dundee now has 82 pure electric TPH vehicles operating in the 
city. At 11%, Dundee very close to its target to see 15% of taxis 
become electric by the end of 2018.

Transport for London

TfL are responsible for delivering the Mayor of London’s transport 
strategy.  As part of his strategy to tackle air pollution, the Mayor 
has already introduced the T-Charge in central London and 
brought forward the start date of the ULEZ.  TfL is deploying a 
range of measures to ensure that the emissions from taxis and 
private hire vehicles are reduced as quickly as possible. 

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



20 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   21      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

For Taxis:
— 15-year age limit (introduced 2012. Consultation currently 
 underway looking at a phased reduction to 12 years by 2022.)  

— A requirement for all newly licenced vehicles from 1st 
 January 2018 to be ZEC; this requires a minimum zero 
 emissions driving range of 30 miles and CO2 emissions no 
 higher than 50g/km.

— An additional five years is allowed if the taxi is fitted with 
 an approved TfL modification to reduce emissions. This 
 allows some vehicles to qualify if retrofitted with Euro 6 
 compliant petrol engines, which includes LPG repowered 
 black taxis. 

— A £2.5 million fund to help drivers of relatively new Euro 5 taxis 
 to be converted to LPG fuel.

— Taxi delicensing scheme.

The taxi delicensing scheme³¹ is offered to the owners of the 
oldest and most polluting taxis in London to remove their 
vehicles from the fleet and help to make the switch to ZEC 
vehicles sooner than through the “natural” replacement rate. Top 
payments of £10,000 are available to the first 1,250 applicants, 
with tiered payment levels available to subsequent applicants on a 
first come, first saved basis:

For PHV:
From the introduction of the ULEZ in 2019 all PHVs will need to 
meet the ULEZ emission standards or pay the daily charge. ZEC 
licensing standards are being introduced for PHVs. These require 
a zero emission range of at least 20 miles and CO2 emissions 
no higher than 75g/km. The requirements for PHVs are being 
introduced in three phases to ensure that by the 1st January 2023 
all PHVs licensed for the first time will be ZEC vehicles.

Phase 1: 1st January 2018 to 31st December 2019
— PHVs licensed for the first time must be Euro 6 petrol or 
 diesel or Euro 4 petrol hybrid

Phase 2: 1st January 2020 to 31st December 2022
— All new (less than 18 months old) PHVs licensed for the first 
 time will be required to be ZEC

— PHVs > 18 months old will need to be Euro 6 compliant to 
 be registered for the first time

Phase 3: 1st January 2023
— All PHVs of any age will need to be ZEC when licensed for 
 the first time.

Policies to ensure that adequate rapid charging infrastructure will 
be available for drivers are being introduced in parallel which are 
detailed in chapter 4 of this guide.  

Case study

Nottingham City Council  

As a unitary authority, Nottingham City Council is the taxi 
licensing authority within its boundary. The council published a 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Strategy in 2017, which 
includes a set of policies and strategies to respond to air quality 
and climate change challenges. Examples of these policies are:

— A minimum of 40% of taxis to be ULEVs by 2020
— All newly licenced taxis from 31/12/2019 to be ultra-low 
 emission, Euro 6 diesel or Euro 4 petrol

— A maximum age of 10 years for conventional vehicles in 
 operation and 12 years for ULEVs

— A target for 25% of the Private Hire fleet to be ULEV by 2020 
 and 50% of fleet by 2025

The council recognises that taxi drivers and operators need time 
to investigate the business models so their chosen vehicles 
comply with the new age and emissions limits. The council is 
assisting local taxi drivers by having regular meetings with the 
taxi trade, sending regular newsletters, holding roadshows and 
through continued driver engagement. 

The council is also trying to increase income opportunities for 
the taxi trade through a partnership with ‘Mytaxi’, a smartphone 
application that allows users to book, pay and log their journey on 
their smartphone. The project was launched in March 2018, with 
more than 300 drivers signed up to the app. Drivers will also be 
allowed to advertise outside, inside and on the roof of the vehicle, 
which the council is supporting through the Cabzy Ads initiative. 

As part of the council’s strategy to incentivise the adoption of low 
emission taxis, 32 charging points will be installed from late 2018 
at key locations across the city following a successful £700,000 
OLEV taxi bid and a £100,000 DEFRA bid to make sure that one 
in three taxis in the city are ‘green’ by the year 2020. The council 
is exploring locations for siting the charge points based on 
common routes drivers take. These charging points are on top 
of the 230 points that will be for public as well as taxi use, which 
the council has received £2m of separate Government funding 
through the Go Ultra Low City scheme. As part of the scheme, a 
discounted tariff will be introduced allowing all residents and taxi 
drivers to use the local units at 20p/kwh.

Recognising the high capital costs of ULEV taxis and following 
feedback from drivers, the council investigated the opportunities 
around purchasing the taxis and leasing them back to drivers. To 
pilot this concept, the council has secured £270,000 from the 
DEFRA Early Measures Fund to purchase electric taxis – initially up 
to six. 

The scheme is currently in development but early thinking 
includes a proportion of vehicles to be offered on long term 
leases (6 months +) and some vehicles to be held and offered on 
a ‘try before you buy’ basis to give more drivers the opportunity 
to trial the vehicles for a period of one week to one month so 
that they can fully understand how the vehicle operates and 
undertake a real world comparison between their usual vehicle 
and the ULEV option.

Eligible 
Vehicles

No. of payments 
available

Payment (£)

Taxis younger than 
13 years

1,250 10,000

1,100 9,000

850 8,000

500 7,000

400 6,000

15 or older 1,000 1,000

3  Best practice guidance for local authorities

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



22 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   23      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

3.4   Guidance for installation of 
          EV charging infrastructure

Drivers who take their cars home between shifts will find it very 
hard to use a BEV if they don’t have access to off street parking 
and a chargepoint, as evidenced in the Uber case study described 
in the BEV section.

LAs can help overcome this barrier by the provision of on-street 
charging facilities and by encouraging the installation of rapid 
charging equipment in areas where the drivers live and work. 
Engagement with the industry can help with the planning of 
charging provision, which may include allowing infrastructure to 
be installed on land owned by the LA.

Installing charging points to support TPH trade to switch to 
EVs can be challenging. When planning the installation EV 
chargepoints, LAs will need to take into account factors like 
land availability, constraints on the supply of electricity as well as 
planning guidelines that could potentially restrict the primary sites 
that could be used.

Choosing the right equipment
TPH drivers need to be able to recharge their vehicles quickly, 
ideally without being off the road for longer than they would 
in a conventionally fuelled taxi. Therefore, the majority of the 
chargepoints for taxis during the shift should be rapid or fast 
(22kW). Compatibility with both CHAdeMO and the CCS is 
recommended. For home charging, standard (3.7kW) or fast 
(7kW) chargepoints are recommended.

Chargepoints should be capable of communication with a back 
office system through the Open Charge Point Protocol (OCPP).

Back office software should provide the functionality needed to 
reliably maintain and operate the network including:

— Detailed information on chargepoint activity including real-
 time status;

— Charging start and finish times;
— Electricity consumption by chargepoint per hour/day and 
 energy provided to each vehicle by charge event;

— Management of power demand to avoid network overload;
— Remote software updates and maintenance; 
— Support for customer service and chargepoint 
 maintenance staff;

— Provision of a live map to show available chargepoints and 
 facilitate booking;

Deciding ideal chargepoint locations
Correctly locating rapid chargepoints for taxis is crucial to facilitate 
the shift from conventional to LEV technology. Chargepoints 
should be sited at or close to where taxis are stationary in 
large numbers, such as key ranks and drivers’ break locations. 
Strategically locating chargepoints is also necessary to maximise 

chargepoint utilisation rates. It should enable those using the 
infrastructure to do so with minimal impact on their daily routine 
and allow them to benefit from the lower operating costs while 
not being compromised in terms of business turnover. 

Drivers who have off street parking may install dedicated home 
charging points so they start each shift with a fully charged 
battery. These drivers can at the time of writing benefit from 
OLEV’s EVHS. If they don’t have access to off street parking, their 
LA might decide to take advantage of the ORCS funding to install 
a chargepoint on street near their property.

Other considerations
Other factors LAs should consider is the level of Service Level 
Agreement (SLA) which ideally will include 24/7 remote reaction 
time within 10 minutes and a site visit within two hours with issues 
resolved within 24 hours in order to guarantee high uptime.  

LAs have different options when it comes to how drivers can pay 
to charge their vehicle. This means that drivers could either be 
charged on a pay as you go (PAYG) basis or alternatively through a 
membership or a combination of both.

The cost of installing two chargepoints does not necessarily 
double compared to the cost of installing one, as installation costs 
have an economy of scale when more chargepoints are installed 
at a location.

LAs can refer to the UK Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment (EVSE) 
Association guide which provides more information about EV 
chargepoint technology, installation, pricing and procurement³².

State aid
LAs are responsible for ensuring their policy measures and 
projects comply with state aid rules. This is particularly relevant 
where chargepoints are installed on private property. State aid 

should be considered early in the process advice sought to avoid 
problems and save time. More information about state aid rules 
can be found on the Government’s website³³.

Traffic regulation order
Where the infrastructure is on-street and access will be enforced 
under Highway Regulations it is necessary to create a Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO), or in London a Traffic Management 
Order (TMO). A TRO provides the means by which consultation is 
carried out with statutory consultees as well as the general public. 
It provides details of the parking restrictions, kerbside location of 
the bay and other information relevant to enforcement.

Partnerships and stakeholder engagement
It is vital that LAs collaborate with all the relevant stakeholders as 
part of their chargepoint installation projects to ensure successful 
delivery of the schemes. The communications are important 
within the different teams of the Council as well as with the 
chargepoint network operator and the Distribution Network 
Operator (DNO).

3  Best practice guidance for local authorities

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



24 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   25      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

Working with Local Distribution Operator
One of the major potential issues when selecting locations is the 
constrained supply of electricity from the grid. Installing multiple 
chargepoints at a given site will add significant demand to the grid. 
Therefore, network reinforcement may be required to provide 
sufficient power. 

DNOs distribute electricity to charge points and provide new 
power supplies to connect them to the network. A site survey will 
be required from the DNO at each location to determine whether 
sufficient capacity exists in the network. For a small installation, 
such as a single chargepoint, it is less likely that upgrades to 
the grid supply will be required. However, with several rapid 
chargepoint installations in a localised area, investment such as 
transformer or substation upgrades or even a new substation may 
be needed³⁴. 

The cost of upgrading the electricity network could well be the 
greatest cost to developing rapid charge infrastructure. This will 
become even more of an issue as higher powered chargepoints 
enter the market. 

Investigating potential electricity 
supply constraints early in the process 
of assessing locations should allow 
the selection of sites with lower 
upgrade costs.

It is critical that LAs, the network 
operator(s) and the relevant DNOs 
work closely together from the 
outset to manage rapid chargepoint 
installations and any necessary supply 
upgrades as these organisations all 
share responsibility to manage the 
provision of sufficient chargepoints. 

Case studies

Tfl, Charging in the City

TfL has put in place vehicle standards which will accelerate the 
transition to a ZEC fleet of TPH vehicles. TfL has commissioned 
a number of ULEV research studies including rapid chargepoint 
mapping for the TPH industries to ensure that these vehicles can 
charge during the working day with a minimum of impact on the 
drivers’ daily routine³⁵. Following this work, a rapid chargepoint 
operator framework was established with a number of businesses 
bidding individually or in consortia to operate individual and rapid 
chargepoint “hubs”. 

The research highlighted both the difficulty of finding sites in 
London and the costs involved in uprating the local electricity 
supply network where this is necessary to install rapid 
chargepoints. Rather than invest in chargepoints, TfL is working 
with the successful operators and London boroughs to identify 
public and private sites to install rapid chargepoints. Incorporating 
funding from the authority’s successful application for OLEV taxi 
scheme grant, TfL is investing £18 million in the reinforcement 
of the electricity grid at these sites. This enables a sustainable 
business model to be established by the operators as they build a 
pan-London network of rapid chargepoints, many 
reserved for the exclusive use of the taxi trade. Sites 
will be on arterial roads, owned and maintained by 
TfL, borough roads, car parks and private land 
including Heathrow Airport and several Shell 
service stations. TfL is fully funding the grid 
reinforcement on public sites and contributing 
50% of the cost on private land. 

The operators installing rapid chargepoints on the 
framework are: ESB EV Solutions, Fastned, 
GeniePoint, POLAR and Source London. TfL have 
committed to install 150 rapid chargepoints by the 
end of 2018 and at least 300 by 2020 to support the 
TPH industry and other private and commercial users. 
Approximately 75 were installed by the end of 2017 
and locations and further information is available on 
the TfL website³⁶.

3  Best practice guidance for local authorities

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



26 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   27      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

Technology introduction

BEVs otherwise known as “pure EVs” are wholly driven by an 
electric motor, powered by a battery that can be recharged from 
mains electricity.  

BEVs emit zero tailpipe emissions, making them the ideal solution 
to reduce TPH vehicles’ impact on air quality. BEVs are a type of 
ULEV and will not be charged to enter a charging CAZ or ULEZ. 
Lifecycle CO2 emissions can be further reduced by using low 
carbon electricity and renewable energy tariffs.

Taxi and private hire vehicles’ duty cycles make them ideal for 
utilising plug-in technology. Here are a number of reasons why 
BEVs are especially suitable for TPH use:

Operational use

— BEVs suit driving in a predominantly urban, stop-start 
 environment, where they operate most efficiently.
— Pure EVs can meet the needs of drivers who carry out 
 predominantly urban driving. Longer journeys, typically airport 
 runs will often require charging infrastructure, preferably rapid 
 charging, to ensure that return journeys can be completed.  
— Duty cycles usually include periods of downtime, for example 
 quiet periods of the day, waiting for a passenger or during 
 breaks, so charging events can be incorporated into working 
 patterns.
— BEVs are smooth and quiet and drivers report that they are 
 more relaxing to drive than a conventional car. The smooth 
 quiet environment is appreciated by customers too.
— The use of electric vehicles by the trade increases the visibility 
 of the technology potentially encouraging 
 wider adoption.
— The uptake of BEVs could support tourism, 
 enhancing the image of a town or city as the 
 customer travels in a clean and quiet 
 vehicle. 

 
 

 

Vehicle specification

Taxis
Depending on the local licensing policy, a number of BEVs may 
be suitable for adoption as hackney carriages. Where saloon cars 
are allowed, the Nissan Leaf is a popular choice and additional 
models providing the interior and boot space required by the trade 
are becoming available including the Hyundai Ionic.  The Nissan 
e-NV200 can provide up to seven seats or be converted to provide 
a rear loading WAV. 

Where a full size side door WAV is required, Dynamo are 
converting the e-NV200 into a vehicle which will comply with the 
London conditions of fitness although not officially approved by 
TfL yet. Nottingham City Council has recently included Dynamo 
into their list of eligible HCs.

To date vehicle range has matched the average daily mileage of a 
typical hackney carriage but leaves little leeway for longer working 
days or journeys. The new Nissan Leaf, available from spring 2018 
allows a real world driving range in the order of 170 miles. A revised 
e-NV200 with a real world range of c.130 miles also becomes 
available in April 2018.        

Private hire vehicles
The most popular BEV in use in the private hire industry is the 
Nissan Leaf. Phoenix Taxis in Blyth, Northumberland have run the 
car since 2013. The e-NV200 has also been adopted where more 
carrying capacity is required including rear access wheelchair 
conversions. 

4  Technology chapters

.Available models

A number of BEVs are currently available, suitable for use in the 
taxi (where saloon cars are allowed) and private hire industry. 
In addition to the Nissan Leaf, the BYD e6, Hyundai Ionic and 
Volkswagen e-Golf are also available. Where executive cars are 
required, the Tesla model S and X and the Jaguar i-Pace provide a 
choice of long range (240+ miles) vehicles. Smaller models such 
as the KIA Soul and Renault Zoe may be allowed by some licensing 
authorities. 

The electric vehicle market is in its infancy, in Q1 2018 c.2% of 
new car sales were eligible for the plug-in car grant it is however 
growing quickly³⁷. The vehicles in Table 5 below are examples 
of a medium saloon, people carrier and executive car which are 
suitable for the TPH market where conditions of fitness allow. The 
choice of vehicles and their range capabilities is increasing rapidly 
and where approved vehicle lists are in place, they should be 
updated regularly as more models become available.

 

Dynamo  
Taxi 
(WAV

Nissan Leaf 
Acenta 
40kW

Nissan eNV200 
Evalia Tekna 
Rapid Plus

Tesla 
Model S 
75D

Battery size 
kWh

40 40 40 75

NEDC Range 
(miles)

170 (est) 217 174 304

Estimated 
real world 
range (miles)

134 171 137 240

No. of 
passenger 
seats

5 4 5/7 optional 4

Table 5. Examples of BEVs suitable for use as taxi and private hire vehiclesP
age 32

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



28 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   29      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

An overview of electric 
vehicle charging infrastructure

The availability of charging infrastructure is key to the successful 
introduction of BEVs. Ideally, drivers should be able to charge 
at or close to home when not working and at rapid charging 
infrastructure in locations where drivers typically take breaks or are 
stationary for a period of time as required during the working day, 
should a top up of range be necessary. 

EV chargepoints are primarily defined by the power (in kW) they 
can deliver and therefore how fast they are capable of charging an 
EV (including BEV, PHEV and E-REV in this context). 

 
 

There have been significant recent advances in the speed at which 
EVs can be charged. Chargepoints as powerful as 150 kW have 
recently become available and rapid chargepoints delivering up 
to 50kW are a common sight at motorway and main road service 
stations throughout the UK. Chargers as powerful as 350kW will 
be available in the next few years which will dramatically reduce 
recharging times for future generations of vehicles. 

  

 

Most TPH companies who have successfully adopted BEVs have 
invested in their own rapid charging infrastructure, providing 
drivers with the opportunity to top up or fully charge their vehicles 
during the working day. Where vehicles are kept overnight on the 
operator’s premises, standard or fast charging will allow vehicles to 
start the working day fully charged.

Please refer to the EST Guide to chargepoint infrastructure 
for business users for more information about charging 
infrastructure³⁹.

  
 

The speed of charging is dependent on the technology built into 
the vehicle and into the charging infrastructure. For example, 
when the charging capability of the vehicle is less than that of 
the charger then the vehicle will charge only at the maximum 
speed allowed by the vehicle. Charging rates as shown in Table 6, 
vary from slow chargers - which can take more than 12 hours to 
completely replenish a battery in a BEV - to rapid chargers which 
can provide 80% of charge in 20-30 minutes.

For TPH operators, one of the most significant considerations 
when operating electric vehicles is the time required to charge. 
Also of great importance is daily mileage, downtime during the day 
and vehicle compatibility with the different types and speeds of 
charging equipment. The most common chargepoint connectors 
are outlined in Table 7 below.

4  Technology chapters

Slow Fast Rapid

Power Rating 3.5 - 7kW 7 - 22kW 43 - 50kW

Electrical Supply type AC Usually AC, DC available at 
higher rates

AC & DC

Charge time 4 to 8 hours 2 to 4 hours 25 - 40 minutes (80% 
charge)

Vehicle range 
added in 15 minutes

3 - 6 miles 6 - 20 miles 35 - 40 miles

Cost per 
chargepoint* 
(approximate)

 £500 -£1,000 £2-3k (AC), £19k (DC) £20-£40k

Comments Chargepoints are usually 
Type 2 sockets, however 
Type 1 or 2 tethered cables 
are available.

Popular method of charging 
at home overnight.

For home charging a 
dedicated chargepoint is 
recommended

OLEV grant available 
providing 75% of the cost 
of the chargepoint and 
installation up to £500. 

Majority of chargers are 
untethered Type 2 sockets.

Tend to be found on street 
and at destinations such as 
car parks, supermarkets or 
shopping centres.

Fast chargepoints  are 
approximately half the cost of 
rapid units.

They are less likely to require 
expensive electricity supply 
upgrades.

Rapid units have tethered 
cables.

Found at most motorway 
and main road service 
areas, increasingly found at 
supermarkets and on-street.

Table 6 – EV charging speeds

* Costs are an approximation provided by a chargepoint provider and do not include installation costs.

Table 7- Chargepoint connector types

Connector Type Typical charge speed and current Associated manufacturers

Type 2 (Mennekes) 3.5kW, 7kW, 22kW, 43kW AC Compatible with most vehicles, but 
not all will be capable of utilising the 
higher rates of charge (charge speed 
dependent on vehicle on-board 
charger)

Combined Charging System (CCS) 50kW DC (150kW DC being trialled³⁸) BMW, Audi, Volkswagen, Porsche, 
Ford, Hyundai

CHAdeMO 50kW DC Nissan, Kia, Citroën, Tesla (via 
adapter), Mitsubishi, Peugeot

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



30 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   31      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

Financial information

Vehicle running costs of BEVs are usually much lower than PHEVs 
or conventional cars, as the electricity price is low in comparison 
with petrol/diesel prices, and experience has demonstrated that 
vehicle maintenance costs are also lower. Recharging BEVs at 
home or at an operator’s premises is likely to be the lowest cost 
option providing running costs of 3-5 pence per mile, a third of 
that of a conventional car at 12-15 pence per mile. Using rapid 
chargepoints or other public infrastructure could increase the 
pence per mile cost of using a BEV, a 30p/kWh rate would mean 
that the operator was paying an equivalent fuel rate of around 7-9 
pence per mile. 

 
 

 
 

 

    
Case study

Phoenix Taxis

Phoenix Taxis is a family run business that operates from a central 
office in Blyth, Northumberland to provide taxi, private hire, 
minibus, and coach services across Northumberland, Tyneside and 
Newcastle. Phoenix, operate around 230 vehicles and was one of 
the first taxi companies in the UK to offer an electric taxi service, 
investing £250K and introducing nine Nissan LEAFs into their fleet 
in 2013. Phoenix now operate only hybrid or electric saloon cars 
including 15 Nissan Leafs, 4 Teslas, 2 Nissan eNV200s and 150 
Toyota Prius, with another 15 40kWh Nissan Leafs in place.

Two main challenges in relation to operating EVs are recognised 
by Alex Hurst, Managing Director of Phoenix. The first is the 
charging infrastructure; the company has installed three rapid 
chargers - two on site and one at Newcastle University with whom 
they have a partnership. Drivers, typically travelling 75 to 100 miles 
a day in a mixture of rural and urban driving, do not pay to use 
these chargepoints, further reducing their running costs. Secondly 
Phoenix believes that licencing authorities should use their powers 
to reward operators or drivers running EVs to encourage the 
adoption of electric taxi and private hire vehicles.

 
 

 
 

 

    

The table above clearly shows the reduction in fuel and VED costs 
when a BEV is operated in comparison to a diesel equivalent. 
In these examples the Nissan Leaf more than makes up for the 
list price difference between it and the Skoda Octavia (best in 
class). The Tesla S is likely to be a similar cost to run compared to 
the Mercedes E class when the lower maintenance costs of the 
BEV are factored into a whole life cost calculation, or should the 
vehicles be operated for a longer period.
  

 
 

      
The electricity costs used are assumed to be at domestic levels 
[see assumptions section in Appendix], it should be noted that 
if the BEVs were charged at a commercial rapid charger, the 
electricity costs would be higher (for that proportion of driving) 
depending on the supplier. This would not be the case for a Tesla 
using a Tesla Supercharger as there would be no charge for the 
electricity.

 
 

 
 

 

    

Some energy companies offer tariffs that reward charging ULEVs 
at off-peak times, such as overnight. Find more tips on how to save 
money whilst charging at home⁴⁰.

Table 8 provides an example of total fuel and VED costs for two 
BEVs operated as taxi or private hire vehicles, compared to diesel 
equivalents and assuming 30,000 miles driven per year over a 
period of four years.

The company appreciate that electric vehicles are more expensive 
to buy compared to Internal Combustion Engine (ICE) vehicles 
but emphasises the high quality service offered to customers as 
well as the vehicles’ zero tailpipe emissions. Commitment to the 
environment is an integral part of the business, but Alex also finds 
that the Leafs have very low maintenance costs and are very easy 
to sell second hand, a bonus in a highly competitive industry. 

Alex and his colleagues at Phoenix are wholeheartedly supporting 
the transition to EVs and believe that as well as the competitive 
advantage these vehicles offer, they also play their part in 
improving air quality in the North East. 

Table 8. BEV – fuel and VED cost comparisons 

4  Technology chapters

Nissan Leaf 
Acenta 
40kW 

Skoda 
Octavia 
1.6 TDi S

Tesla 
Model 
S 75D 

Mercedes 
E350d 
SE

Fuel cost (4 
yrs)

£5,020 £11,744 £7,032 £16,616

VED cost (4 
yrs)

0 £585 £930 £2,180

Total cost £5,020 £12,329 £7,962 £18,796

Pence per 
mile

4.2 10.3 6.6 15.7

CO2(g/km) 
(tailpipe, 
NEDC)

0 106 0 153

Vehicle price 
(OTR)

£25,190* £19,810 £62,900 £48,940

*Including Category 1 OLEV Grant

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



32 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   33      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

Case study

eConnect cars – GLH 

GLH are a private hire, chauffeur drive and courier company 
established in 1967. GLH became the first private hire company in 
London to switch its fleet of Ford Mondeos to Toyota Prius hybrids 
in 2004, saving its drivers around £35 a week in fuel.  The company 
has recently acquired eConnect cars adding 20 Nissan Leafs to 
its fleet of 380 vehicles. For the moment the Leafs are driving up 
to 500 miles a week, compared to their hybrid cars which travel 
about 750 miles over five shifts. Zoe Walsh, Sales and Customer 
Relations Director at GLH, finds that charging the cars during the 
day remains a challenge in London as is recruiting drivers who 
don’t suffer from range anxiety, although the experienced Leaf 
drivers love their cars.  The Leafs are frequently allocated for runs 
to and from Heathrow, as there is a charging infrastructure in place 
at the airport.

 
 

 
 

 

    
Case study 

Uber

Following an electric vehicle trial of 50 cars in London in 2016⁴¹, 
Uber now have over 100 electric vehicle drivers working on their 
app, 70 of which are London based. The main challenge for drivers 
participating in the trial was the lack of charging infrastructure; on 
street charging for those drivers without off street parking, but also 
a lack of rapid chargepoints for quick recharges in advance of, or 
during, the working day. As a result of this, at the time of writing, 
Uber have already installed rapid chargers in 3 central locations in 
London (Tower Bridge, Chinatown and Knightsbridge) and plan to 
build further rapid infrastructure in underserved areas where a vast 
majority of Uber drivers reside. These chargepoints are currently 
for Uber drivers’ use only, but it is planned that they will be opened 
up to other users once established. 

 
 

 
 

 

    

Zoe believes that local authorities could do more to support the 
use of electric private hire cars and taxis. On street charging for 
drivers who do not have a driveway and contracts that specify a 
requirement for operators to use electric cars is important, also a 
reasonable cost of electricity from rapid charging during the day.  

The company is also trialling technology being developed by 
EV Technology Limited which monitors the cars’ battery state of 
charge and the drivers’ driving style to their job allocation software, 
optimising the use of the cars. Zoe is looking forward to longer 
range cars being available and a wider choice of vehicles including 
people carriers so that their electric fleet can grow just as the Prius 
fleet grew 14 years ago.

More than 200,000 passengers have travelled more than a million 
miles in these electric vehicles so far and the company plans to 
take all non-hybrid cars off the road in London by 2020, operate 
petrol six seaters and operate only electric vehicles in London 
by 2025. In the rest of the country this policy will start to be 
implemented in 2023, with electric vehicles only by 2028. Uber 
recognise that the cost of the vehicles is a sticking point for drivers 
and plan to launch a “Clean Air Fund” which will provide drivers 
with a financial incentive, up to £5,000, to help them adopt the 
technology. 

4  Technology chapters

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



34 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   35      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

 Technology introduction

Extended range electric vehicles (E-REV) and plug-in hybrid electric 
vehicles (PHEV) have a battery, electric drive motor and a petrol or 
diesel ICE as in a conventional hybrid, however the battery can be 
recharged from a chargepoint. Regenerative braking is provided to 
help increase the battery driving range. The ICE allows the vehicle 
to be driven for an increased number of miles when the battery is 
depleted. 

Both of these vehicle types are ULEVs and often referred to as 
plug-in hybrid; however, there are key differences which impact 
their use:

E-REVs usually have a large battery, similar or identical in storage 
capacity to an equivalent BEV equivalent. The vehicle’s ICE acts as 
a generator which provides electricity to drive the wheels when 
the battery is depleted.  The wheels are always driven by electricity.

PHEVs usually have a larger battery than a conventional hybrid 
but smaller than an E-REV. The vehicle can be driven by the ICE, 
the electric drive motor or both together and will operate as a 
conventional hybrid when the battery is depleted. 

E-REVs and PHEVs emit no tailpipe emissions while driving in ZEC 
mode (powered solely by the battery), making them a flexible 
solution with low or zero emissions in an urban environment but 
with the ability to travel longer distances when the need arises. 
However, when the ICE is in use, CO2 and NOx emissions will be 
similar or in some cases worse than an equivalent petrol or diesel 
vehicle.

Operational use
— When operated in electric drive mode the vehicles are 
 zero emission and suitable for driving in a predominantly 
 urban, stop-start environment, where they operate most 
 efficiently.
— The vehicles meet the needs of drivers who carry out 
 predominantly urban driving but are often required to 
 undertake longer journeys, such as when a fare originates 
 at a major airport, or when access to rapid charging en-
 route may not be available or desirable. 
— Duty cycles usually include periods of downtime, for 
 example quiet periods of the day, waiting for a passenger 
 or during breaks, so charging events can be incorporated 
 into working patterns as in the case of BEVs.
— Vehicle running costs, in particular electricity, are much 
 lower than for a conventional car, but only when the 
 vehicle is operated in electric drive mode. Operating the 
 vehicles without charging them will result in far higher 
 running costs, at least as much as a petrol or diesel 
 equivalent. 

 
 

 
 

 

    

Private hire vehicles
Only one saloon car E-REV (the BMW i3 Rex) is available. The 
vehicle has an unusual door mechanism which requires that 
the corresponding front door has to be opened before the rear 
passenger door can be opened. This feature, alongside limited 
boot capacity, makes the vehicle unsuitable as a PHV and is 
unlikely to be granted a license for the carriage of more than one 
passenger by licensing authorities.

Available models

A wide range and growing number of PHEVs are available, in 
addition to those in the Table 10, examples in include:
— Audi A3 1.4TFSi PiH e-tron
— BMW 225xe Active Tourer, 330saloon 2.0ePHEV, 740 
 2.0e PHEV
— Kia Niro 1.6GDi PHEV, Optima saloon and estate 2.0h GDI
— Mercedes C350e 2.0 PiH saloon and estate, E 350e 2.0 
 PiH saloon and estate
— Toyota Prius PiH
— VW Golf 1.4 TSi PiH, Passat 1.4 TSi PiH saloon and estate
— Volvo V60 PiH 2.4 D6 (Diesel PHEV), S90 PiH 2.0 saloon 
 and V90 PiH 2.0 Estate

 
 

 

      
— The vehicles drive like a BEV when in electric drive mode, 
 with a smooth, quiet power delivery. There is a low level 
 of engine noise when the ICE comes into operation 
 in urban driving. At higher vehicle speeds, the ICE in an 
 E-REV operates at a higher engine speed to generate the 
 increased electricity demand of the electric drive motor. 
 In a PHEV the ICE will drive the vehicle through a gearbox 
— It will be possible to use geofencing, a technology 
 that ensures the vehicles only operate in ZEC mode in 
 future zero emission zones. This ensures that emissions 
 impacting on air quality are minimised in the areas most 
 prone to road traffic pollution. 

Vehicle specification

Taxis
There are no wheelchair accessible PHEVs available in the UK, 
however where saloon cars are allowed, there are many cars 
available from a number of manufacturers.

In terms of E-REVs, the Metrocab has undergone testing in London 
and is expected to be available; however as of April 2018 the 
vehicle isn’t available to order. No detailed technical information is 
available at this time.

The LEVC TX is on sale and replaces the LTI/LTC TX4 Euro 6 black 
cab. The new vehicle is a fully accessible, six seat hackney carriage 
with many features which increase comfort and convenience for 
both driver and passengers. The vehicle has a 31kWh battery which 
provides for an NEDC official range of 80.6 miles. The company 
states that the range in real world operating conditions is around 
64 miles. A 1.5 litre petrol engine operates as a range extender to 
provide a total quoted range of 377 miles. The 40 litre petrol tank 
therefore provides the flexibility which allows long journeys, to be 
undertaken without the need for charging. 

4  Technology chapters

LEVC TX 
(WAV)

Hyundai Ionic 
1.6h GDi 
PiH PHEV

BMW 530 
2.0e SE 
PHEV

Battery size (kWh) 31 8.9 9.2

NEDC electric range 
(miles)

81 39 29

Estimated real world 
range (miles)

64 31 23

CO2  g/km (tailpipe, 
NEDC)

29 26 46

PICG/PITG category 1 2 2

No. of passenger 
seats

6 4 4

Table 9. Examples of PHEVs and E-REVs suitable for use as taxi and private hire vehicles

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



36 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   37      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

Charging Infrastructure 

For further details, see the BEV section on page 26.
It is important to be noted that with a few noticeable exceptions 
such as the Mitsubishi Outlander, the majority of PHEVs are not 
capable of rapid charging. Though they can use the chargepoints, 
the power will be limited by the vehicles internal charger. Many 
rapid charging networks will discourage PHEVs using their 
infrastructure as it reduces the availability for BEV drivers who can 
fully utilise the chargepoints. The LEVC TX is also capable of rapid 
charging.

Financial information

Vehicle running costs when driving in electricity mode are lower 
than for a petrol or diesel vehicle. E-REVs and PHEVs are only cost 
efficient when running in full electric mode, otherwise they can be 
more expensive to run than a conventional petrol, diesel or hybrid, 
particularly on higher speed motorway journeys. Some elements 
of the engine associated maintenance costs, such as brakes, 
should last longer than in a petrol or diesel due to regenerative 
braking and the fact that the engine runs for less time overall. As 
with BEVs, charging at home or at an operator’s premises is likely 
to be the lowest cost option. 

 
 

 
 

     

The reduction in fuel and VED costs for the new LEVC TX 
compared with the LTI/LTC TX4 is a powerful argument and that 
the trade should consider the WLCs for this vehicle. After the PITG 
the list price is around £10,000 higher but this has been more 
than compensated after four years as can be seen in this example. 
Comparing Hyundai and Ford examples demonstrates the savings 
that can be made by moving to a “best in class” PHEV vehicle. 
If the Hyundai was driven for a higher proportion of time using 
electric propulsion, this would result in an even greater saving [see 
Assumptions section in Appendix about share of miles driven in 
electric mode during a shift].

4  Technology chapters

Table 10. PHEVs - fuel and VED cost comparisons 

LEVC TX LTI/LTC TX4 Hyundai Ionic 
1.6h GDi 
Premium 
PHEV

Ford Mondeo 
2.0 TDCi 
180 T Ed

Fuel cost (4 
yrs)

£10,852 £24,376 £10,380 £12,888

VED cost (4 
yrs)

£390 £3,110 £390 £625

Total cost £11,242 £27,486 £10,770 £13,513

Pence per 
mile

9.4 22.9 9.0 11.3

CO2 g/km 
(tailpipe, 
NEDC)

29 222 26 119

Vehicle price 
(OTR)

£55,599* £45,955 £25,345** £26,440

* Including Category 1 OLEV grant   ** Including Category 2 OLEV grant

Case study

EV Technology 
With the continued roll-out of hardware, from EVs to charging 
posts, the market is now starting to see the emergence of service 
based companies offering products that will help accelerate the 
adoption of this new technology. Such products and services are 
seeking to make it as easy for consumers to use electric cars as it is 
to use the traditional diesel and petrol variants.

One such company is EV Technology which has developed data 
algorithm and telematic devices adopted for the EV market to 
provide vehicle operators with real time insights.  The company 
already has data from over 250,000 kms of recorded EV driving, 
and this is being used to constantly improve the understanding of 
EV range and battery utilisation, based on numerous parameters 

 
 

 
 

including driver behaviour, route selection, topography, weather 
conditions, etc. By integrating this data with charging infrastructure 
location and utilisation, fleets can drive improvements in their key 
performance indicators.

Outputs from EV Technology systems can be integrated 
with existing booking and dispatch systems via Application 
Programming Interfaces (APIs) to enable the auto-dispatch 
capabilities of modern systems to work with EVs. The provision 
of tools and products from companies like EV Technology are 
expected to be critical to the adoption of EVs by taxi fleets, 
especially in large cities and areas where relevant charging 
infrastructure is limited.

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



38 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   39      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

 Technology introduction

Fuel cell electric vehicles (FCEV) use hydrogen as a fuel. The 
hydrogen reacts with oxygen from the atmosphere in a fuel cell, 
generating electricity to drive the vehicle. A battery stores energy 
from regenerative braking, improving efficiency and provides 
instantaneous power for acceleration. Combining hydrogen and 
oxygen in the fuel cell produces water which is the only waste 
product and therefore zero emission at the tailpipe. In terms of 
CO2 emissions associated with hydrogen production, this is highly 
dependant on the method of manufacturing hydrogen gas. CO2 
emissions can be lower or higher than diesel and by generating 
renewable hydrogen greatly reduces production related CO2 
emissions. 

Operational use

— FCEVs currently have a driving range of 300 miles or 
 more that enables them to easily drive a typical TPH 
 shift. The vehicles can be refuelled in three to five 
 minutes at a hydrogen refuelling station and the process 
 is straightforward and not unlike fuelling with LPG. 
— FCEVs use an electric motor for propulsion and 
 are therefore quiet and smooth in operation, making 
 them comfortable for both driver and passengers. 
— Limited refuelling infrastructure and expensive vehicles 
 in limited supply mean the technology isn’t ready for 
 wide scale deployment in the taxi and private hire 
 industry.  

Vehicle specification

Taxis
Only three models are available in the UK in limited numbers. It is a 
niche market with vehicles currently in use being funded through 
OLEV trials. All are ULEVs. 

Private hire vehicles
The saloon models would be suitable for use in the private hire 
trade, in an “executive” car capacity, Green Tomato cars in London 
are using the cars successfully in this role. 

 
 

 
 

     

Available models

The models available are the Toyota Mirai, Honda Clarity FCV and 
the Hyundai iX35. The Toyota and the Honda are large saloon cars 
and the Hyundai a crossover. 

Hydrogen infrastructure

As of early 2018 there are 13 publicly accessible hydrogen filling 
stations in the UK and the network is expanding. Shell are adding 
hydrogen refuelling to a small number of stations in partnership 
with ITM Power. Charging infrastructure information provider Zap 
map provides a list of available FCEV refuelling stations.

In March 2017 the Government launched a £23 million funding 
scheme to accelerate the uptake of hydrogen-powered vehicles 
and infrastructure.

Refuelling a FCEV is almost as simple and quick as using a petrol 
pump. The driver attaches the refuelling station's nozzle to the car 
which locks it in place creating a sealed system. 

Financial information 

The technology has been in development for many years; 
currently the cost of certain components means that vehicles are 
expensive. However, costs, particularly the fuel cell, are falling and 
it has been reported that Toyota plans to reduce the cost of the 
key components of a new model on sale around 2020 by half and 
by a further three-quarters by 2025. The cost of hydrogen is also 
high at £9-£10/kg; the fuel cost per mile is therefore equivalent to 
a petrol or diesel car achieving around 35 mpg.

With the current high cost of the vehicles and the fuel, the 
technology is unlikely to be adopted across the taxi and private hire 
industry in the short term; however, as costs fall this could change 
in the next few years. The WLC of FCEVs is not favourable for TPH 
operators at the moment, however trials in progress in the trade 
and in wider commercial use are investigating actual operating 
costs, including the leasing of vehicles.

4  Technology chapters

Case study

Green tomato cars 
Green Tomato Cars are recognised for introducing the Toyota 
Prius into the private hire industry over ten years ago and this 
model still accounts for 80% of their cars to date. Where larger 
cars are required, a number of Mercedes E class plug-in hybrids 
and diesel powered VW CCs, VW Sharans and Ford Tourneos 
are operated, but a “no diesel” purchase policy is currently being 
implemented, with the removal of all diesels to be achieved by the 
end of 2018. 

The company’s innovative approach to vehicle technology 
continues in the shape of two Toyota Mirai Fuel Cell Electric 
Vehicles on trial in London. These cars are fuelled by Hydrogen 
and can travel around 300 miles between refills, potentially every 
other day, based on the 100 to 150 miles they travel each day. 
There are five hydrogen refuelling stations in the London area 

 
 

 
 

which provide refuelling in the same speed as for conventional 
petrol or diesel cars, and the vehicles themselves are proving 
extremely popular with both customers and their drivers. 

Green Tomato Cars acknowledge that the refuelling costs and 
the current high cost of the FCEVs make their use across the fleet 
uneconomical at the moment without funding support. However, 
in view of support from the European Fuel Cells and Hydrogen 
Joint Undertaking (FCH-JU’s) ZEFER programme and OLEV in the 
UK⁴², the company expects to take on 50 Mirai to replace their 
fleet of VW CCs this year, as their self-imposed diesel ban comes 
into effect. It’s clear that Green Tomato Cars see hydrogen FCEVs 
as an important technology alongside electric cars as they work 
towards their goal of being a zero tailpipe emission fleet by 2023.

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



40 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   41      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

Technology introduction

Petrol, diesel and hybrid electric vehicles (HEV)
It is appreciated that there are areas where the trade would 
struggle to afford BEVs, E-REVs and PHEVs.  Encouraging the use 
of “best in class” CO2 emission petrol, diesel and hybrid vehicles, 
which comply with the LEV emission standards proposed in this 
guide, can help reduce emissions and benefit drivers through 
lower running costs.  

A HEV has a petrol or diesel ICE, a battery used to store energy 
recovered through regenerative braking and an electric motor. 
The wheels can be driven by the ICE, the electric motor or both 
together. The electric motor is used to accelerate the vehicle from 
standstill or power it altogether for short distances (up to a mile) 
at low speed.  The harvesting of energy which would usually be 
lost as heat when braking and using it to drive the vehicle means 
that HEVs are particularly fuel efficient in urban driving conditions.  
Additionally, the engine always stops when the vehicle is at rest; 
these features combined make them a fuel efficient choice 
particularly in urban driving conditions. HEV are therefore beneficial 
in reducing both air pollution and CO2 emissions. 

Operational use

— There is a large choice of new petrol, diesel and hybrid 
 vehicles, choosing “best in class” models for CO2 
 emissions will reduce drivers’ fuel bills. 
— If opportunities are limited for the trade to adopt newer, 
 cleaner technologies; petrol hybrids (minimum Euro 4) 
 will reduce emissions and fuel costs particularly in urban 
 driving conditions.
— Petrol, diesel and hybrid vehicles are better suited to 
 longer distance journeys than electric vehicles, for 
 example airport runs in many parts of the country feature 
 long motorway journeys. 
— HEVs operate for short distances (usually no more than 
 a mile) in electric drive (zero emission) mode and 
 are particularly suitable for and fuel efficient when driving 
 in a predominantly urban, stop-start environment.
— HEVs operate for short periods without the engine 
 running and the engine always stops when the car is at 
 rest. This makes for a relaxing drive for the driver and 
 passenger in stop start driving conditions. 

 
 

 
 

     

Vehicle specification

Taxis
Diesel taxis are by far the most common, particularly when fully 
accessible vehicles are required by a licensing authority. The LTI/
LTC TX models has only been available with a diesel engine until 
the launch of the LEVC TX model and the base vehicles used for 
competitors’ models are also diesel powered. The majority of 
the smaller rear access WAVs and many saloon cars, particularly 
outside London, are diesel powered as well. Where saloon cars are 
licenced as a taxis a wide range of HEVs are available.

Private hire vehicles
Diesel is the most common technology in use in the private hire 
industry. Licensing authorities should encourage the use of best in 
class models, which includes hybrid for saloon models, however 
there are currently no larger multi-seat hybrids on the UK market. 
The Toyota Prius is very popular with drivers in many areas and 
larger hybrid models are in use in the chauffer drive sector.

Available models

There are several full size and smaller (rear access) WAVs on the 
market. It is important that the trade is encouraged to adopt Euro 
6 diesel and the fuel economy and CO2 emissions of the vehicles 
should be borne in mind when the best in class vehicles are being 
selected. For larger multi-seat vehicles in use in the private hire 
industry, best in class diesel should be the preferred option in the 
absence of HEV technologies in this sector.

Where taxi conditions of fitness allow saloon cars for the private 
hire industry, a wide range of diesel and petrol cars are available. 
Similar models, even from the same manufacturer, can have 
significantly different fuel economy and CO2 emissions. A best 
in class approach can significantly reduce emissions and fuel 
consumption of vehicles in these sectors. The choice of vehicles 
also includes HEVs. The Toyota Prius and larger (occasional 7 seat) 
Prius + are the most established model in the industry, however 
other petrol HEVs include the Ford Mondeo 2.0HEV saloon, 
Hyundai Ionic 1.6hGDI hatchback, Lexus CT 200 hatchback 
and Lexus IS 300. Larger and premium brand cars include the 
Mercedes C300 diesel hybrid saloon and estate models, the Lexus 
LS 500 saloon, Infiniti Q50 and Q70 saloons.  

Financial Information

Choosing best in class diesel models can significantly reduce 
vehicle running costs and HEVs can reduce costs further, 
particularly in urban driving when the hybrid system improves 
overall fuel efficiency. Aspects of vehicle maintenance should also 
be lower, for example, brake wear is reduced due to regenerative 
braking.

When the lowest emission and therefore most fuel efficient 
vehicles are selected there is little difference in the overall fuel and 
VED costs, except in this instance for the Mercedes diesel hybrid 
estate which has a list price of over £40,000 and is therefore 
subject to the diesel supplement for cars over this price.

4  Technology chapters

KIA CEE’D 
1.6 
CRDi 2

Toyota Prius 
1.8VVT-h 
Active HEV

VW Passat 
Estate 
1.6TDi S

Mercedes C300 
AMG Estate 
HEV

Fuel Diesel Petrol/Electric Diesel Diesel/Electric

CO2g/
km(tailpipe, 
NEDC)

99 78 107 104

mpg (NEDC) 74.3 83.1 68.9 68.9

No. of 
passenger 
seats

4 4 4 4

KIA CEE’D 
1.6 
CRDi 2

Toyota Prius 
1.8VVT-h 
Active HEV

VW Passat 
Estate 
1.6TDi S

Mercedes C300 
AMG Estate 
HEV

Fuel cost (4yrs) £10,892 £9,508 £11,784 £11,784

VED cost (4yrs) £565 £485 £585 £1,455

Total cost £11,457 £9,993 £12,369 £13,239

Pence per mile 9.5 8.3 10.3 11.0

CO2 g/km 
(tailpipe, 
NEDC)

99 78 107 104

Vehicle price 
(OTR)

£19,740 £24,245 £25,605 £41,475

Table 11. Examples of best in class and HEVs models for use as taxi and private hire vehicles

Table 12. Best in class petrol, diesel, HEV-fuel and VED cost comparisons 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



42 The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

Technology introduction

LPG has been in use as a transport fuel for many years. LPG 
produces less CO2 per litre burnt than diesel, and vehicles running 
on LPG emit significantly lower levels of NOx and PM compared 
with a diesel vehicle.

BioLPG is produced from wastes, residues and renewable 
vegetable oils and has recently been made available in the UK. It 
can be blended and used for all existing LPG applications reducing 
lifecycle CO2 emissions by up to 80%. 

The use of LPG as a fuel for the TPH industry should be considered 
in two parts:

Black taxi repowering
This involves replacing the diesel engine in a TX series black taxi 
with a new petrol engine, converted to run on LPG and achieving 
the Euro 6 emission standard. This solution is especially useful for 
cleaning up older diesel taxis. 

Taxi/private hire vehicle conversion 
This involves the conversion of a petrol engine car to run on 
LPG. It is important to note that the Euro emissions standard of 
converted vehicle will not be changed, therefore vehicles will have 
to be Euro 4 before conversion to comply with charging CAZ 
Framework criteria. 

Operational use

— LPG vehicles, whether repowering or conversions, can 
 be operated just as normal petrol or diesel vehicles; the 
 only inconvenience is that not all petrol stations sell LPG.

— Both TX taxis repowering and car conversions retain a 
 petrol tank so the vehicle can be driven on petrol as a 
 reserve fuel if LPG refuelling is not available. However, 
 due to the lower fuel duty on LPG, fuel costs will be 
 almost twice as high running on petrol instead of LPG, it 
 is important that drivers are aware of this. 

 
 

 
 

     

Vehicle specification

Taxis
A repowering technology (GasCab) for the TX1, TX2 and TX4 
taxi is available which involves replacing the diesel engine with 
a petrol engine adapted to run on LPG. The conversion when 
applied to the TX2 and TX4 has been authorised for use by 
TfL. These vehicles are granted a five-year extension to the 
London age limit of 15 years. In addition to London, the cities 
of Birmingham, Edinburgh and Glasgow have also approved 
the use of LPG repowering technology by TX drivers. The LPG 
repowering technology has been approved by CVRAS, and 
Vehicle Repowering Solutions (VRS) the company supplying the 
technology is currently going through the CVRAS accreditation 
process. The CVRAS¹⁴ website shows a list of certified companies 
and technologies. 

The GasCab repowering technology comprises of a 2.0L Turbo 
Ecotec Opel engine adapted for running on LPG by Kronenburg 
Management Systems (KMS). The KMS engine control unit (ECU) 
is optimised to work with a Vogels LPG system to achieve optimal 
power and emissions performance. The engine is mapped to 
follow the original diesel power output as closely as possible and 
produces 80 – 100 HP depending on the diesel engine being 
replaced. The original output of the engine is 280HP (as installed 
in the Vauxhall Astra VXR) therefore it is operating well within its 
limitations which should mean a long service life. The original fuel 
tank is replaced by a 100 litre LPG tank and a 12 litre petrol tank for 
cold starting and as a reserve. 
 
Where saloon cars are licensed as taxis, many petrol engine cars 
are suitable for conversion. A gas injection system, a controller and 
a pressurised LPG tank is fitted to the vehicle.  The tank is often 
located in the spare wheel well. A network of converters across 
the country is approved by UKLPG, to ensure safe and satisfactory 
conversions; their consumer website DriveLPG has further details.

Private hire vehicles
An approved LPG installer should be used for Euro 4,5 and 6 
petrol or hybrid car conversions. In addition the DriveLPG website 
enables used car buyers to check, by typing in the registration 
number, if a vehicle they are proposing to buy is on the UKLPG 
register. This means it has been converted and inspected by an 
approved converter on the UKLPG scheme.  
 

 
 

 

4  Technology chapters

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



44 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   45      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

Available models

In terms of the repowering solution, one WAV is available based 
on the TX series of taxis. In addition many Euro 4,5 & 6 petrol and 
hybrid cars are also suitable for LPG retrofit conversion.

LPG infrastructure

There are over 1,300 outlets selling LPG across the UK. For 
locations of LPG refuelling points in the UK view the DriveLPG  
refuelling map⁴³. Autogas Ltd, the country’s largest supplier of 
automotive LPG, has a search function for their refuelling sites on 
their website. 

Refuelling at an LPG pump is straightforward; the refuelling 
nozzle is locked into place to create a sealed pressurised system. 
Refuelling takes around the same time as refuelling with petrol or 
diesel. 

 
 

Financial information

Running vehicles on LPG enables drivers to benefit from the lower 
rate of fuel duty applied to LPG making it almost half the cost of 
petrol or diesel. When petrol cars are converted, fuel consumption 
usually increases and drivers should expect an engine to use 
around 20% more fuel when running on LPG. Overall, fuel costs 
can be up to 40% lower than for an equivalent petrol car and 
slightly lower than an equivalent diesel. 

LPG conversions on petrol saloon cars are usually in the region 
of £1,500 to £2,000 -, this cost would be borne by the driver or 
operator. There is a small increase in maintenance costs as a “gas 
service” is required periodically.

The cost of the repowering technology on the TX diesel taxi 
is between £9,800 and £10,800 ex VAT, dependant on model 
and options on the vehicle. i.e. air conditioning. The CVRAS 
accreditation may mean that funds become available to support 
taxi operators repowering their vehicles⁴⁴.  A comparison of fuel 
and VED costs for a diesel TX4 and a TX4 repowered LPG vehicle 
for four years is shown below. 

It can be seen in the table above a significant fuel saving comes 
from the lower cost of LPG even though the fuel consumption is 
somewhat higher than the diesel (27.4 mpg diesel, 17-18 mpg LPG). 
Over 4 years, the running costs for the repowered vehicle are 
reduced by more than £5,000 in comparison with a diesel TX4.

 
 

 

4  Technology chapters

LTC TX4 
Diesel

LTC TX4
Repowered 
LPG

Fuel cost (4 yrs) £24,376 £18,985

VED cost (4 yrs) £1,260 £1,260

Total cost £25,636 £20,245

Pence per mile  21.4 16.9

CO2 g/km 
(tailpipe, NEDC)

222 c.203*

Table 13. LTC TX4, LTI/LTC TX Repower LPG  - fuel and VED cost comparisons 

*estimated from fuel consumption  **conversion price incl’ VAT for TX4

Case study

Birmingham City Council 
In September 2014, Birmingham City Council (BCC) received 
£500,000 from DfT’s Clean Vehicle Retrofit Technology 
fund to repower 65 diesel TX1 and TX2 black taxis with petrol 
engines using LPG. The work is part of BCC’s NOx Reduction 
Champion project, a partnership between approved converter 
Harborne Garage in Selly Oak, engine manufacturer Kronenberg 
Management Systems (KMS), European LPG conversion kit experts 
Vogels Autogas Systems and BCC. The partnership is further 
supported through collaboration with LPG supplier Autogas Ltd. 

There are approximately 1,200 taxis and 4,000 private hire vehicles 
licensed by BCC. Birmingham has an ageing fleet of taxis that 
means the provision of cleaner vehicle in the city is a priority for 
BCC addressing air quality, whilst delivering CAZ compliant taxi 
fleet.

 
 

 
 

The repowering technology cost around £9,000+VAT. Drivers 
were only required to pay the associated VAT, the repowering 
was covered by DfT fund. The participating Birmingham drivers 
have driven more than 80,000 miles to date and feedback has 
been very positive with 97% stating they would recommend the 
conversion to other drivers

Vehicle emission testing demonstrated the repowered TX1 and 
TX2 black cabs running on LPG emitted 80% less NOx emissions 
(post conversion) compared with a diesel powered version. The 
repowered taxis achieved the Euro 6 petrol emission limits for PM 
and NOx. In addition, a 7% reduction in CO2 was also achieved. 

As a result of the success of this project, BCC have submitted an 
application for Clean Air Zone funding to run a larger LPG taxi 
retrofit programme.  

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



46 The Low Emission Taxi Guide   47      The Low Emission Taxi Guide 

Appendix 1 – Assumptions Appendix 2 – Further information

A list of assumptions used throughout the 
document are described below:

1. The electricity cost figures are derived from EST’s 
 database and are based on average costs over the 
 previous 12 months⁴⁵. Electricity costs are assumed to be 
 domestic. 

2. Fuel and LPG cost figures are derived from the Automobile 
 Association’s (AA) March 2018 report⁴⁶.

3. The vehicle price used in the fuel and VED cost comparison 
 tables is the On-the-road price (OTR) which is the car’s list 
 price and includes the additional costs of first registration fee, 
 delivery fees, number plates and first year’s road tax. OTR 
 prices were derived from vehicle manufacturers websites in 
 March/April 2018. GasCab prices were derived from VRS 
 in April 2018. Vehicle prices are subject to changes and readers 
 should contact vehicle manufacturers/dealers for current 
 prices.
4. The vehicle cost calculations are done based on a TPH vehicle 
 that does 30,000 miles per year over a period of four years.
5. The NEDC electric range figure is quoted in the guide unless 
 it is otherwise stated. The NEDC is adjusted by a 21% uplift in 
 fuel consumption for ICE vehicles and electricity for EVs to 
 reflect the estimated real world range. This adjustment aligns 
 with EST’s methodology for calculating fleet CO2 emissions.
6. CO2 emissions quoted in the guide are NEDC tailpipe 
 emissions (g/km).
7. For PHEVs the battery depleted fuel consumption is sourced 
 from Comcar, using the liquid fuel consumption calculated 
 from the official NEDC figures (subject to rounding) with a 21% 
 uplift to reflect more closely real world driving.
8. In calculating fuel costs for PHEVs and E-REVs it is assumed a 
 PHEV is driven by electric propulsion for 20% of a shift and 
 there is no recharging after starting the shift with a full battery. 
 An LEVC TX(E-REV) is assumed to be driven by electric 
 propulsion for 80% of a shift.  starting the shift with full battery. 

 
 

¹Department for Transport, Taxi Statistics, 2017
 
²Transport Scotland, Scottish Transport Statistics, No 36, 2017

³Department for Transport, Vehicle Licensing Statistics: 
  Annual 2017, 2018

⁴PCM modelling provided by Ricardo Energy & Environment, 2017

⁵TfL, Changes to low emission zone and expansion of the 
  ultra-low emission zone, 2017

⁶Department for Transport, Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Statistics: 
England 2017

⁷Urban Transport Group, Taxi! – Issues and options for city region 
 taxi and private hire vehicle policy, 2017

⁸ULEV Taxi Scheme, Feasibility studies for 8 Local Authorities

⁹HM Government, Deregulation Act 2015

¹⁰These prescribe, for instance, a turning circle of 8.535 metres,   
   emissions limits, acceptance of contactless payment, an 
   approved taximeter to be fitted, wheelchair accessibility and a 
   15-year age limit. 

¹¹OLEV Road To Zero Strategy, 2018 https://www.gov.uk/
   government/publications/reducing-emissions-from-road-
   transport-road-to-zero-strategy

¹²DEFRA/DfT, Clean Air Zone Framework, Principles for setting up 
   Clean Air Zones in England, 2017

¹³Motorcycles and mopeds are not routinely included under any 
   category. Local authorities may choose to include them under 
   class D

¹⁴Clean Vehicle Retrofit Accreditation website - http://www.
   energysavingtrust.org.uk/transport-travel/transport/clean-vehicle-
   retrofit-accreditation-scheme-cvras

¹⁵TfL Guidance - alternative fuels for black taxis http://content.tfl.
   gov.uk/alternative-fuels-version-2.pdf

¹⁶TfL, Ultra Low Emission Zone

¹⁷TfL, Cleaner greener PHVs

¹⁸CH2M Hill, Consultation on Building Scotland’s Low Emission 
   Zones – Analysis Report, February 2018

¹⁹Welsh Government, A Clean Air Zone Framework for Wales, 2018

²⁰Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, 2016 UK 
   Greenhouse Gas Emissions, National Statistics

²¹WLTP information on LowCVP website - www.lowcvp.org.uk/
   initiatives/fuel-economy/wltp.htm

 
 

²²Ultra Low Emission Taxi Infrastructure Scheme: round 2 

²³OLEV, OLEV Plug in vehicle grants

²⁴OLEV, Plug-in Taxi Grant

²⁵OLEV, On-street residential chargepoint scheme

²⁶OLEV, EV Homecharge Scheme

²⁷OLEV, Workplace charge scheme

²⁸EST, Scotland, Grants and loans

²⁹Cars registered from April 2017 with a list price above £40,000 
   will attract a supplement of £310 on their standard rate (SR) of 
   VED for the first 5 years in which a SR is paid.

³⁰Southampton City Council, Taxi incentive scheme

³¹TfL, Taxi and Private Hire Action Plan, 2016

³²UK EVSE, Electric Vehicle Chargepoint Procurement Guide

³³Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, State aid 

³⁴UK Power Networks, Getting electric vehicles moving

³⁵TfL, Ultra Low Emission Vehicle research, Publications 
   and reports

³⁶TfL, Electric vehicles & rapid charging

³⁷Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders

³⁸Electrek, ‘Supercharger for all’: The first 150 kW fast-charging 
   station comes online in Switzerland

³⁹EST, Guide to chargepoint infrastructure for business users, 2017

⁴⁰EST, Electricity tariffs for electric vehicles

⁴¹EST, Electric Private Hire Vehicles in London, On the road, 
   here and now, 2017

⁴²DfT, New greener police cars to run on hydrogen, 2018

⁴³Drivelpg, LPG refuelling map

⁴⁴Autogas.net, UK Clean Air Fund supports retrofitting of vans 
   and taxis to Autogas

⁴⁵EST, Our calculations

⁴⁶AA, Fuel Price Report, March 2018

 
 

 
 

 

Electricity costs 14.33p/kWh (unit)

Fuel cost  

Petrol 119.7 p/litre

Diesel 122.6 p/litre

LPG 60.4 p/litre

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix B



Low Carbon Vehicle Partnership, 
3 Birdcage Walk, London SW1H 9JJ

Tel: +44 (0)20 7304 6880   
www.lowcvp.org.uk

Energy Saving Trust
30 North Colonnade, London E14 5GP

Tel: +44 (0)20 7222 0101
www.energysavingtrust.org.uk Page 43

Agenda Item 8
Appendix B



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C: Local Vehicle Standard Comparison  

The table below summarises the vehicle standards specified in the taxi policies of the other local authorities in Devon and also neighbouring authorities of 

North Devon District Council. For the definitive version of the vehicle standard at each authority listed below their Taxi Policy should be consulted: 

 

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix C



Local Authority Private Hire Vehicle Standard Hackney Carriage Vehicle Standard 

North Devon (current policy) 
 
 
 
 
 

Vehicles must be less than 5 years old when 
presented for licensing. Vehicles older than this 
will be licensed only at the discretion of the 
Licensing Sub Committee. 
 
Mechanical Inspection every 6 months. 

As per PHV Standard. 

Torridge District Council The Authority does not currently specify any age 
restriction for licensed vehicles. 
 
Vehicles which are over five years of age will be 
required to undergo a mechanical inspection 
every six months. Vehicles over ten years of age 
will be required to undergo a mechanical 
inspection every four months. 
 
Policy currently out for consultation: 
The vehicle will be required to meet or exceed 
Euro 6 emissions standards (or recognised UK 
equivalent). Applications for newer vehicles will 
be awarded more points. Additional points will 
also be awarded for electric vehicles or vehicles 
with CO2 emissions of less than 50 g/km. 
 

As per PHV Standard. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As per PHV standard. 

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix C



West Somerset Council Any vehicle presented for licensing for the first 
time should not be more than 3 years old from 
the date registered as new in the vehicle 
registration document for a saloon type vehicle, 
or 4 years old for a purpose built wheelchair 
accessible vehicle (Applicable to PHV and HC). 
 
All vehicles are required to undergo a vehicle 
plating test at the Councils nominated inspecting 
garage when first presented for licensing and 
thereafter:  
For vehicles between the age of 1 to 5 years at 
12 monthly intervals 
For vehicles over 5 years old at 6 monthly 
intervals (Applicable to PHV and HC) 
 

Be a purpose built, wheelchair accessible car with 
side loading wheelchair access. 
 
Be no more than 4 years old (taken from the day 
of registration, as shown in the V5 registration 
document/logbook) or up to 5 years old, 
providing the car has done no more than average 
mileage (calculated at 12,000 miles per year), 
good bodywork, evidence of full service history 
 

Mid Devon District Council Where a new application has been submitted to 
licence a vehicle over 5 years old, the application 
may be referred to a licensing regulatory sub-
committee for consideration. 
 
Vehicle test every 6 months (in addition to MOT). 

As per PHV Standard. 

West Devon Borough Council All vehicles licensed by West Devon Borough 
Council must have a 4 or 5 star Euro NCAP Safety 
Rating. 
 
All vehicles over 3 years to be inspected every 6 
months (in addition to MOT). Vehicles under 3 
years of age to be tested annually. 

As per PHV Standard. 

Teignbridge District Council The vehicle must be under 5 years old at time of 
first registration with the council. 
 
Annual inspection at nominated garage. 

As per PHV Standard. 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix C



South Hams District Council As per West Devon As per West Devon 

Plymouth City Council No hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
licence will be issued or renewed unless the 
vehicle has been manufactured to Euro 4 or a 
higher specification. 
 
Annual vehicle inspection (6 monthly if vehicle 
over 5 years), plus MOT. 
 
CCTV not mandatory, but must comply with 
technical standard if installed. 

All hackney carriage vehicles licensed by the 
Council must be side loading wheelchair 
accessible. 

Exeter City Council No PHV to be first licenced over 3 years old, 
except where vehicle is between 3 and 4 years 
where the application can be referred to an LSC 
for determination (with accompanying 
comprehensive vehicle inspection report). 
 
MOT only, no other inspection requirement.  

Hackney fleet split 50:50 between wheelchair 
accessible vehicles (WAVs), and Ultra-low 
emission vehicles with stated emission level of 
less than 75g per Km.  
 
WAVs must be Euro 6 emission standard or 
above. Policy currently prioritises WAV 
applications over ULEV applications.  
 
Red and black vehicle livery scheme mandatory. 
 
Mandatory in-vehicle CCTV with prescriptive 
technical standard. 
 
MOT only, no other inspection requirement. 

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix C



East Devon District Council The Council recognises that low emission vehicles 
such as hybrids and electric vehicles can have a 
positive impact on the environment and these 
will be given special consideration. The Council’s 
condition for minimum engine capacity has been 
removed for Ultra Low and Zero Emission (ULEV) 
vehicles. 
 
Vehicle shall be not more than four years old 
from the date of first registration. Licensed 
vehicles of more than eight years old shall only 
continue to be licensed subject to a satisfactory 
East Devon vehicle compliance report being 
obtained every six months. 
 
Annual vehicle inspection (6 monthly if over 8 
years), plus MOT. 
 

As per PHV standard. 

 

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix C



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Licensing and Community Safety Sub Committee C - 11 January 2022 
 

1 
 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of Licensing and Community Safety Sub Committee C held as 
a Virtual - Online meeting on Tuesday, 11th January 2022 at 3.00 pm 
 
PRESENT: Members: 

 
 Councillor D. Spear (Chair) 

 
 Councillors Campbell and L. Spear 

 
 Officers: 

 
 Legal Advisor and Licensing Officer 

 
   
 

18.   APPOINTMENT OF THE CHAIR 
 

RESOLVED that Councillor Derrick Spear be appointed as Chair. 

19.   VIRTUAL MEETING ETIQUETTE AND PROCEDURE 
 

The Corporate and Community Services Officer confirmed that everyone who should 
be was present and read out the virtual meeting procedures and etiquette.   

20.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

There were no apologies for absence. 

21.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

There were no declarations of interest made. 

22.   APPLICATION FOR THE GRANT OF A PREMISES LICENCE; 
DOWNEND BEACH CAFÉ, CROYDE ROAD, CROYDE, 
BRAUNTON, NORTH DEVON, EX33 1QE, REFERENCE 053653 
 

Also present: 
 
Mr H Hare, Applicant 
Mrs M Beaumont, Mr Maddocks, Mrs J Young and Mr P Hall, Persons who had 
made a representation. 
 
The Sub-Committee considered the application for a premises licence in respect of 
Down End Beach Café, Croyde, Braunton, Devon, EX33 1QE (circulated previously) 
reference 053653. 
 
The Chair introduced himself and invited those present to introduce themselves. 
 
The Licensing Officer confirmed that all the formal requirements had been met for 
the submission of the application. 

Public Document Pack

Page 51

Agenda Item 9



 
Licensing and Community Safety Sub Committee C - 11 January 2022 

 
 

 
2 

 

 
The Legal Advisor outlined the hearing process. 
 
The Licensing Officer presented his report.  He confirmed that one representation 
made in objection to the application had been withdrawn.  Of the remaining five 
representations made, two were present at the meeting.  No responsible authority 
had made a representation.  The Planning Team had made an observation indicating 
planning permission maybe needed on the structure in the car park.  Although Devon 
and Cornwall Police had not made a representation the Police had visited the 
applicant and discussed the conditions volunteered which could be imposed on any 
licence granted (found at appendix O of the agenda).  A plan of the area being 
considered in this application could be found on page 37 of the agenda.  Reference 
was made to the policy guidelines on harm and the Licensing Officer concluded his 
presentation referring the Sub-Committee to paragraphs 7.1 to 7.4 of the report 
which gave the options available to them in their decision making. 
 
Mr Hare, applicant was invited to address the Sub-Committee.  In his presentation to 
the Sub-Committee the applicant gave the following information: 
 

 He observed that the whole application process to obtain a licence was 
lengthy and was not something to be taken lightly 

 He had previously owned and run an hotel in Cornwall for 25 years and 
considered himself to have plenty of experience and knowledge of running a 
licensed premises 

 Visitors to the site had asked on numerous occasions about being able to 
purchase a drink with their food/takeaway 

 He had previously applied for Temporary Event Notice (TEN) to hold an event 
from a bus on the site.  This had been a subdued affair, due in part to the 
limitation of the TEN and limitations due to staff shortages 

 They had  been visited by the Police and had offered a number of conditions 
to help allay fears 

 He had now sourced a vessel that was lidded and would be operating a £1 
purchase  or hire of the multi-use vessels to reduce littering  

 There would be no glass, tins or bottles given out 

 He had agreed to provide CCTV and the Police were keen for this to be 
installed 

 No music or live music was to be played 

 No near neighbours had expressed any concerns or submitted any 
representations 

 He had reassured a Croyde Residents Association member that there were 
not going to be raves every night or rubbish strewn about 

 Unfortunately, he had not had the chance to address the Parish Council 
meeting as his application had not been placed on an agenda.  When he did 
attend a meeting he was advised that as a decision about the application had 
been taken it couldn’t be revisited for 6 months 

 He had emailed every single Parish Councillor but not received a reply from 
anyone 

Page 52

Agenda Item 9



 
Licensing and Community Safety Sub Committee C - 11 January 2022 

 
 

 
3 

 

 In terms of visitors arriving in their vehicles having brought their own alcohol 
he had no control over this nor could he control gatherings on the beach or 
people crossing the road 

 The car park was busy and the facilities provided there had been improved.  
Citing his business was unfair competition was not a consideration as 
competition was healthy in business 

 His goal was to assist in helping visitors enjoy their stay.  The site would be 
managed well which would reduce the risk of public nuisances 

 Preventing Children from harm was most important and a premises managed 
correctly would ensure this 

 
In response to a question from the Sub-Committee.  The applicant advised that there 
would be a member of staff with a personal licence available on site during operating 
hours.  He had already trained two members of staff.  It was unlikely that he would 
be open for the whole 11 hours being requested in his application. 
 
Mr Hall, person who had made a representation presented his case.  He stated that 
the village was in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and was very much a 
family destination.  He was concerned that the customer base would be driving to the 
car park able to purchase alcohol and then drive away.  He raised the question of 
provision of toilet facilities, indicating that these were Local Authority owned and, 
therefore, the Council would in effect be providing that facility. 
 
 
The applicant was allowed to address the Sub-Committee to comment on the 
observations raised by Mr Hall.  Mr Hare confirmed he had purchased the toilet block 
a few years ago, had improved them and maintained the toilet facilities.  In relation to 
customers driving to the car park, this was no different to being able to drive to a 
regular pub.  He also confirmed that the purchase of cold drinks and ice creams 
would be from a separate outlet and that the ‘Summer bar’ would be dealt with by 
obtaining the relevant planning permission in the future. 
 
Mrs Beaumont, person who had made a representation presented her case on 
behalf of Georgeham Parish Council.  The Parish Council had found it fundamentally 
wrong to licence a car park.  The kiosk that had been insitu since the 1930’s was not 
where the alcohol would be purchased from and it was felt there was a lack of 
transparency around the operation as the unit intended for the sale of alcohol had 
not received planning permission yet.  The neighbourhood plan stated that any 
ancillary facilities should be seen to blend in with its surroundings.  The Parish 
Council also had concerns over the distortion of the economy if pop ups were 
allowed to set up in other places throughout the village.  It was the opinion of the 
Parish Council that the provision of these pop up venues would provide an 
abundance of facilities, for the visitors to the area, at the detriment to the locals.  The 
use of lidded vessels to purchase alcohol would make it easier for alcohol to be 
taken to the beach.  
 
Mr Maddocks, person who had made a representation presented his case.  He had 
visited the café and had enjoyed the food there.  His main concerns were the issue 
of groups of people drinking especially when the schools had broken up for the 

Page 53

Agenda Item 9



 
Licensing and Community Safety Sub Committee C - 11 January 2022 

 
 

 
4 

 

summer holidays.  He agreed having licensed premises was a good thing to help 
control the consumption of alcohol as this seemed to be the main cause of public 
nuisance. 
 
The Licensing Officer addressed the Sub-Committee.  He advised that every new 
application was considered on its own merits.  If a public nuisance was a concern 
then a review of a licence could be carried out. 
 
The applicant summed up. 
 
The Licensing Officer summed up. 
 
The Persons who had made a representation summed up. 
 
RESOLVED that everyone be excluded from the meeting with the exception of 
Members, the Legal Advisor and Corporate and Community Services Officers in 
order for the Sub-Committee to receive legal advice in accordance with paragraph 5 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED, that everyone be re-admitted to the meeting.  
 
The Chair requested that the Legal Advisor read the proposed decision, which was 
voted upon and agreed. 
 
RESOLVED that the premises licence in respect of Down End Beach Café, Croyde, 
Braunton, Devon EX33 1QE be granted with the following conditions: 
 
The Prevention of Crime and Disorder  
  

(a) All staff engaged in licensable activity at the premises will receive training and 
information in relation to the following:  

  

i. The Challenge 21 scheme in operation at the premises, including the forms of 
identification that are acceptable.  

ii. The hours and activities permitted by the premise’s licence issued under the 
Licensing Act 2003 and conditions attached to the licence.  

iii. How to complete and maintain the refusal register in operation at the 
premises (in relation to the sale of alcohol).  

iv. Recognising the signs of drunkenness.  
v. The operating procedures for refusing service to any person who is drunk, 

under-age or appears to be under-age, or appears to be making a proxy 
purchase.  
 

(b) Action to be taken in the event of an emergency, including reporting an incident 

to the emergency services.   

(c) Training shall be recorded in documentary form and shall be regularly 

refreshed at no greater than 12 Month intervals. Training records shall be made 

available for inspection and copying at reasonable times upon request of an 

authorised officer of a responsible authority.   

Page 54

Agenda Item 9



 
Licensing and Community Safety Sub Committee C - 11 January 2022 

 
 

 
5 

 

(d) Training records will be retained for at least 2 years.   
 

(e) An incident log shall be kept and maintained at the premises which will include a 
log of the following, including pertinent details:  

  

i. Any incidents of disorder or of a violent or anti-social nature.  
ii. All crimes reported to the venue, or by the venue to the police.  
iii. Any visits by a responsible authority (under the Licensing Act 2003) or 

emergency service.  
  

(f) Records must be completed within 24 hours of any incident, and will contain the 
time, date, the nature of the incident, the people involved, the action taken and 
details of the person responsible for the management of the premises at the time 
of the incident.  

  

(g) The logs shall be kept for at least 12 months following the date of entry and be 

made available for inspection and copying upon request of an authorised officer 

of a responsible authority. 

 
(h) Crime prevention notices will be displayed warning customers of the possibility of 

crime, e.g. do not leave your bag unattended, etc.  

 
(i) A Customer Code of Conduct poster will be conspicuously displayed warning 

customers that if they act in an inappropriate manner, they could be barred from 
all licensed premises in the local area.  

  

(j) A personal licence holder will be at the premises at all times when alcohol is 
being sold and that there will be two members of staff available during the hours 
of the sale of alcohol to manage the licenced premises. 

  

(k) The premises provides food at all times when the premises are open. 
  

(l) If the premises has an under 18’s night event, no alcohol is available to any 

customer. 

 
(m)The premises shall install operate and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system 

to the satisfaction of the Police and Local Authority.  

  

(n) All equipment must have a constant and accurate time and date generation.  
 

(o) All recordings will be stored for a minimum period of 31days with date and time 
stamping.  

 
(p) The premises would look to join the local Pubwatch scheme.  
  

(q) Alcohol will be sold in multi-use, lidded, plastic containers only.  
  

(r) All bottles sold will be made of plastic.  Mainly water bottles.  

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



 
Licensing and Community Safety Sub Committee C - 11 January 2022 

 
 

 
6 

 

  

(s) Customers carrying open or sealed bottles or glasses will not be admitted to the 
premises at any time.  

  

(t) All plastic bottles or multi-use vessels will be cleared from the public area as soon 
as the contents have been drunk or are empty.  

 
(u) All off sales will be in lidded containers. 
  

Public Safety  
  

(a) We will conduct a suitable Fire Risk Assessment and Risk Assessment at the 
premises and implement the necessary control measures.  

  

(b) Adequate and appropriate First Aid equipment and materials will be available on 
the premises.  

  

(c) At least one suitable First Aider will be on duty when the public are present.  
Should there be more than one First Aider present, then clearly defined roles will 
be defined for each.  The First Aiders will be suitably trained to deal with drug and 
alcohol related problems.  

  

(d) Adequate arrangements will exist to enable the safe movement within the 
premises of disabled people and their safe evacuation in the event of an 
emergency.  

  

(e) In the absence of adequate daylight, suitable and sufficient artificial lighting will 
be provided and maintained in any area accessible to the public.  

 
(f) The premises has a current electrical certificate from an approved contractor 

NICEIC.  This is maintained and inspected every three years and a new report 
obtained each time.  

  

(g) The premises has a current Gas Safe Certificate for the LPG installation and use 
of LPG equipment.  This certificate only lasts a year and so an annual inspection 
is required and a new report and certificate issued annually.  

  

(h) The premises has a current and suitable Public Liability Insurance Policy for the 
sum of £10 million.  A certificate will be obtained each year and displayed at the 
premises.  

  

(i) The premises has current certificates of inspection for all portable firefighting 
equipment.  An inspection is carried out annually and new certificates obtained.  

  

(j) All health and safety signs warning customers about the risks to their health and 
safety, comply with BS5378 1980: Safety Signs and Colours.  

  

(k) Free drinking tap water will be available at all times when the premises is open to 
the public.  

Page 56

Agenda Item 9



 
Licensing and Community Safety Sub Committee C - 11 January 2022 

 
 

 
7 

 

  

(l) A local taxi service number is available on the premises.  
 

(m)A No Smoking at The Bar policy and generally discourage any smoking on the 
premises.  

 
(n) Bench and permanent seating are available for customers at the Premises.  

 
(o) Personal safety messages will be displayed.  Zero alcohol drinks available and 

campaign posters on show.  
  

The Prevention of Public Nuisance  
  

(a) A noise management plan has been devised and is in operation at the premises.  
  

(b) Noise from the premises will be maintained at a level that will not be audible at 
the façade of any neighbouring noise-sensitive premises after 10 pm.  

  

(c) Clear and legible notices shall be prominently displayed at requesting patrons to 
respect the needs of residents and to leave the vicinity as quickly and quietly as 
possible.  

  

(d) The playing of live or recorded music outside, will not be permitted.  
  

(e) Refuse bins are to be cleaned with disinfectant weekly.  
  

(f) All external lighting to be directed away from adjacent neighbours.  
  

(g) All bins to be emptied at least daily, but usually as they are full.  The premises 
has a contract with Coastal Recycling, who empty the bins twice a week in the 
summer.  Staff carry out litter picking daily to the whole premises.  

  

The Protection of Children from Harm  
  

(a) There will be in place a written age verification policy in relation to the sale or 
supply of alcohol, which will specify a Challenge 21 proof of age requirement. 
This means that staff working at the premises must ask individuals who appear 
to be under 21 years of age, attempting to purchase alcohol, to produce 
identification. The only acceptable identification documents will be:  
 

i. A photo driving licence  
ii. A passport   
iii. An identification card carrying the PASS hologram 
iv. MOD Form 90 (ID Card) 

 
(b) Unless such identification is produced the sale of alcohol must be refused.  
  

(c) An alcohol sales refusal register shall be kept at the premises and be maintained 
to include details of all alcohol sales refused. The register will include:  

Page 57

Agenda Item 9



 
Licensing and Community Safety Sub Committee C - 11 January 2022 

 
 

 
8 

 

 

i. the date and time of refusal  
ii. the reason for refusal  
iii. details of the person refusing the sale  
iv. description of the customer  
v. any other relevant observations.  

  

(d) The refusals register will be made available for inspection and copying, on 

request from an authorised officer of a responsible authority.  All entries must be 

made within 24 hours of the refusal.  

  

(e) The premises operates a facility that sells non-alcoholic drinks and snacks from 
another outlet, away from the bar area.  

  

(f) The premises would have a sufficient number of staff to secure the protection of 
children from harm.  

  

(g) All staff to be trained in supervision of children in a licensed premises.  This 
would include protection of children from special hazards, e.g. environmental 
pollution and falling from height, to name a few. 

 
Chair 
The meeting ended at 5.25 pm 
 
NOTE: These minutes will be confirmed as a correct record at the next meeting of 
the Committee. 
 

Page 58

Agenda Item 9


	Agenda
	2 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 18 January 2022
	8 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy: Review options pertaining to vehicle emissions and age
	North Devon Council
	1. INTRODUCTION
	2. RECOMMENDATIONS
	6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
	7.1. A full Environmental Assessment checklist will be produced with a subsequent report seeking permission to go out to public consultation on any proposed taxi and private hire policy changes. The whole thrust of this report, and any subsequent repo...
	8. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
	9. CORPORATE PRIORITIES

	10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
	11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
	12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE

	2022.02.08 Appendix A Vehicle Standards Amendment Options
	2022.02.08 Appendix B
	2022.02.08 Appendix C Local Vehicle Standard Comparison Table

	9 Licensing and Community Safety Sub-Committees
	Minutes


